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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE "STOCK
EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to
which a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should
make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk
that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded
on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded
on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever
for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors of China Eco-Farming Limited (the “Company”) (the “Director(s)”) collectively
and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving
information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to
the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all
material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would
make any statement herein or this report misleading.

This report will remain on the Companys website at http.//www.chinaeco-farming.com and the “Latest Listed
Company Information” page of the HKEx http.//www.hkexnews.hk website for at least 7 days from the date of
its posting.

ERBEXZMEBRLTA ([BXF]) GEMZEHE

GEMZEMN  NAMLBEMEBRRXFA LT 2ARTARSREARZTMEAARM LT 2T H -FER
B ATETHERENZEQAAZEEAR YEEBEHAF CERERSEHRERE -

HRGEMETARBEATNEQF AGEMEE RS THEENRIREECBSAZIBAZTERD
Bk BRELREEGEMEEZ RS EFARBEZWS -

BEXRGREEBERA A RBELH A FREZ AT TR E B R BRI L BT RX (TS &
BHHER T BT B B A #R & 2 BF 2 (1] 85 70 A 28 177 B2 4 3 KRB A2 5 25170 51 B2 A (] 1B KA SE(E A B AT »

FERELEBERAA ([ERE])EE ([EF])BEHAREZEXARRESIEAELHEE KRS
BRI B IR GEMEE 55 _E AR R ([GEME AR ) Z HE M BN 2 Al EM  EFAEEL —
DEEEHE  ERRETHRANG AN BEEFHENEEEA T E B EER TR A EREH A
R 4B T 0] B At F B EE 5K & P BT (0] SRk AR F ey EE A iR o

K& EBEAGESEARRD AU http://www.chinaeco-farming.com Rk & & 35 5 A7 49 U4
http.//www.hkexnews.hk [ R FT_LE T 2 ] 2 &) ARG &R+ H °

China Eco-Farming Limited FE|R2 £ £ REER Q7
Annual Report 2023 =% = = F F 3}



CONTENTS
B %

Corporate Information

Profile of the Directors

Management Discussion and Analysis
Directors’ Report

Corporate Governance Report

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
Independent Auditor’s Report

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial Summary

AEER

EEEE
EEENREAN
EEGRS
EEERRE

R - HEREBRS
BIZHETER S

RAEERHMEENER

REMEBRAR

IR A MR RMEE

PAESHEE

24

36

55

78

89

91

93

95

97

284



BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Chun Fai (Chairman)

Mr. Tin Ka Pak, Timmy (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. So David Tat Man

Mr. Li Aiming (appointed on 10 May 2023)

Mr. Ng Cheuk Fan, Keith (resigned on 13 March 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey
Mr. Zhang Min
Ms. Yuen Wai Man (resigned on 19 July 2023)
Ms. Siu Yuk Ming
(appointed on 26 March 2024)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
Mr. So David Tat Man
Mr. Ng Cheuk Fan, Keith (resigned on 13 March 2024)
Mr. Liu Chun Fai
(appointed on 13 March 2024)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Ms. Yuen Wai Man (Chairman)
(resigned on 19 July 2023)

Ms. Siu Yuk Ming (Chairman)
(appointed on 26 March 2024)

Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey

Mr. Zhang Min

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Zhang Min (Chairman)
Ms. Yuen Wai Man (resigned on 19 July 2023)
Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey
Ms. Siu Yuk Ming
(appointed on 26 March 2024)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey (Chairman)
Ms. Yuen Wai Man (resigned on 19 July 2023)
Mr. Zhang Min
Ms. Siu Yuk Ming
(appointed on 26 March 2024)

COMPLIANCE OFFICER
Mr. So David Tat Man

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Ng Cheuk Fan, Keith (resigned on 10 May 2023)
Mr. Chan Kui Ming (appointed on 10 May 2023)

CORPORATE INFORMATION
DNEEH

BExg

HITES

BEEBEE (FE)
AR\ E (7TBAEE)

BRESUTAE
TERELE (M-S -_=FRAT+BHEZE)
RENEE (R _E-_NFE=/+=HFMT)

BIHNTES

5 FEHE 55 A

R G

EEHLT (R-E-ZE+ A+ NARE)

MEALL
(R=T=MF= A=+~ BEEH)

EEREK

BRIE A

RENEE(R-ZBE-_ME=/F+=HFF)

BEELE
(RZE-_NF=ZA+=BEZMT)

EREE®

REHRE (£E)
(RZB-_=F+A+NLBEIE)

ERLL (ZE)
(RZZE-_WNF=A-t"BEZE)

P BERE S A

REREE

RELZER
RERLE (FEF)
REFZET (R-ZZE-_=ZF+A+HLHET)
SREE A
ABER &+
(R—ZE-_MNE=A_-+, \BEZT)

yMEES
FREESRE (F/E)
REFRE (RZZE_=Ft A+ HBEE)
RERSEE
ABERAL L
(RZZE-_WNF=A -+ "HEZE)

EEIfF
FREN A

REAWE
RENAE (RZE_=FHA+HEE)
BREESHSEE (RZF_=FAA+HEZT)

China Eco-Farming Limited FER2 £ £ EER A 7
Annual Report 2023 =% = = F F 3}



CORPORATE INFORMATION
DNEEH

AUDITOR

Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors
8/F., Catic Plaza,

8 Causeway Road,

Causeway Bay,

Hong Kong

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
Room 707, 7/F, Capital Centre,

151 Gloucester Road,

Wanchai,

Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE
Clarendon House,

2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11,
Bermuda

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
4th Floor North

Cedar House

41 Cedar Avenue

Hamilton HM12

Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Union Registrars Limited

Suites 3301-04, 33/F,

Two Chinachem Exchange Square,

338 King's Road, North Point,

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited
Hang Seng Bank Limited

GEM STOCK CODE
8166

WEBSITE ADDRESS
www.chinaeco-farming.com
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Liu Chun Fai (“Mr. Liu”) (EZE%4%), aged 36,
is an executive Director and Chairman of the Board. Mr.
Liu was educated in Canada. Mr. Liu has over 10 years of
working experience in legal, finance and management. Mr.
Liu has been acting as a director of Blue Sky Solar Energy
Management Limited (“Blue Sky”) since November 2018, a
company mainly engaged in one-stop solar power system
installation service. Blue Sky was de-registered in April 2022.
Mr. Liu was an executive director of InvesTech Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”);
stock code: 1087) from August 2020 to April 2022 and an
executive director of CEFC Hong Kong Financial Investment
Company Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange; stock code: 1520) from November 2016
to June 2019. Mr. Liu also acted as a director of Tung Wah
Group of Hospitals from 2019 to 2021. Mr. Liu joined the
Group in February 2022.

Mr. Tin Ka Pak, Timmy (“Mr. Tin") (AR %4%) , aged
47, is an executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of
the Company. Mr. Tin holds a Bachelor’s degree of Business
Administration from Oxford Brookes University in the
United Kingdom. Mr. Tin is currently the consultant of Value
Convergence Holdings Limited (“Value Convergence”) (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange;
stock code: 821) and he was the executive director of
Value Convergence from July 2011 to September 2020.
He also acted as the executive director of Carnival Group
International Holdings Limited (a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange; stock code: 996) from
December 2020 to May 2021. Mr. Tin has over 10 years
management experience in Hong Kong listed companies.
His duties included group management, strategic planning,
investment evaluation and investor relationship. Mr. Tin
jointed the Group in February 2022.
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PROFILE OF THE DIRECTORS
EEBE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. So David Tat Man (“Mr. So”) (BRZEX%4), aged
39, is an executive Director. Mr. So holds a bachelor degree
in surveying from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and
is @ member of The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors
and The Hong Kong Institute of Directors. Mr. So started his
career in the investment department of Savills (Hong Kong)
Limited and then worked in a company that specialized in
China property investment prior to joining the Company. He
has extensive experience in investment in China and Hong
Kong. Mr. So joined the Group in January 2014.

Mr. Li Aiming ("Mr. Li") (ZZ 8B 5% 4%), aged 51, is
an executive Director. Mr. LI has more than 21 years of
experience in corporate strategic planning, sales planning
and business management. Mr. Li is the founder and the
chairman of Sichuan Baofengxiang Co., Ltd* (PUJI| 8 L4t
A% {7 BB A &) since January 2015. He is the director of
each of Sichuan Jiu De Yuan Kang Industrial Co., Ltd* (PY)I|
NEITEEEER2AE and Jiu De Jiu Pin (Chengdu) Wine
Industry Co., Ltd* (FLEBRdn (B ) B BR A A]) since
August 2020.

Mr. Li has been appointed as an executive director of
Basetrophy Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 8460)
since 29 April 2022. Mr. Li is also serving as executive vice
president of Softbank Financial Research Institute since April
2020. Mr. Li joined the Group in May 2023.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey (“Mr. Yick”) (2 EE & 4),
aged 40, is an independent non-executive Director. Mr. Yick
is also the chairman of the remuneration committee and
members of the audit committee and nomination committee
of the Company. Mr. Yick graduated from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University with a Bachelor of Science degree. He
subsequently obtained the Juris Doctor degree as well as the
Postgraduate Certificate in Laws (PCLL) from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong. Mr. Yick was admitted to practice
law as a solicitor in Hong Kong in 2012. He has been a
member of The Law Society of Hong Kong since then. Mr.
Yick worked in both international and reputable local law
firms and has been working as a solicitor with emphasis on
corporate finance practice. Mr. Yick principally engages in
Hong Kong listing projects and assists in legal compliance of
Hong Kong listed companies. Mr. Yick has been running his
own practice since May 2023. Mr. Yick was an independent
non-executive director of Mengke Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1629), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange from November 2016 to December 2018.
Mr. Yick joined the Group in September 2014.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)
Mr. Zhang Min (“Mr. Zhang”) ([ REE % %) , aged 66, is an
independent non-executive Director. He is also the chairman
of the nomination committee, members of the audit
committee and remuneration committee of the Company.
Mr. Zhang holds a Bachelor of Philosophy Degree from the
Beijing Normal College and a Master of Laws Degree from
the Renmin University of China.

Mr. Zhang was an executive director of Value Convergence
Holdings Limited (Stock code: 821), a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange from June 2018 to
December 2019.

Mr. Zhang was the chief executive officer and an executive
director of Junefield Department Store Group Limited (stock
code: 758), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange from August 2016 to August 2018.

Mr. Zhang possesses over 20 years' experience in the banking
industry through his work with the China Construction Bank
Corporation Group. Mr. Zhang joined the Group in March
2015.

Ms. Siu Yuk Ming (“Ms. Siu”) (BBEBH &z L), aged
30, is an independent non-executive Director. She is also
the chairman of the audit committee, members of the
nomination committee and remuneration committee of the
Company. She has over five years' experience in the audit
profession. She worked in Robert Chui & Co CPA from
September 2015 to February 2016 with her last position as
audit junior. She worked in PricewaterhouseCoopers from
September 2016 to July 2021 with her last position as senior
associate in the risk assurance practice. Ms. Siu joined OJ
Consulting Limited in July 2021 and has been working on IT
audit assignment since then.

Ms. Siu obtained a bachelor degree in business administration
with a major in accountancy from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University in September 2015. She has been a
Certified Information Systems Auditor of the Information
Systems Audit and Control Association since March 2021 and
a Certified Public Accountant of The Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants since May 2021. Ms. Siu is
the independent non-executive director of King Of Catering
(Global) Holdings Ltd. (stock code: 8619), which is listed on
the GEM of the Stock Exchange.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWmE DN

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) was principally
engaged in (i) the business of one-stop value chain services,
(i) property investment, (iii) distribution business, (iv)
provision of money lending services, and (v) provision of
financial services.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
recorded revenue of approximately HK$48,952,000 (2022:
HK$26,134,000), representing an increase of approximately
87.3% as compared to that of last year. Loss for the year
attributable to owners of the Company amounted to
approximately HK$20,560,000 (2022: HK$62,359,000).
The basic loss per share of the Company was approximately
HK15.82 cents (2022: HK51.52 cents).

Property Investment

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the property
investment segment reported nil revenue (2022: HK$Nil).
No revenue was generated. As at 31 December 2023, the
Group did not hold properties in Hong Kong and the PRC for
investment purpose (2022: in Hong Kong of HK$9,780,000).

One-stop Value Chain Services

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the one-stop
value chain services segment reported nil revenue (2022:
HK$2,198,000), representing a decrease of 100%, as
compared to that of last year.

Distribution business

During the year ended 31 December 2023, this
business segment reported a revenue of approximately
HK$46,350,000 (2022: HK$23,613,000), representing an
increase of approximately 96.3%, as compared to the last
year.

This business segment is composed of consumables and
agricultural products, as well as food and beverages. The
consumables and agricultural products include reusable bags
and sunflower meal.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS OVERVIEW (continued)

Distribution business (continued)

For the reusable bag business, the revenue increased as it
received more orders from customers.

For the food and beverage business, the revenue increased
mainly because of the continued effort spent by the directors
to expand its customer base. As more demands are required
by the end customers, the Group received more orders from
food catering providers.

Provision of money lending services

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group's
money lending services segment reported a revenue
of approximately HK$2,602,000 (2022: HK$323,000),
representing an increase of approximately 705.6% as
compared with the last year.

Major terms of loans granted

The total outstanding principal amount of the loan granted
in Hong Kong (the “HK Loan"”) as at 31 December 2023 was
HK$2.2 million bearing interest at the rate of 8%, originally
maturing on before 31 December 2016, with unlisted shares
as collaterals.

As at 31 December 2023, the loan and interest receivables
in relation to the HK Loans (the “HK Loan Receivables”)
amounted to nil and an allowance for credit losses of the HK
Loan Receivables amounted to approximately HK$2.2 million.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has
granted loans to 3 individuals in the PRC (the “PRC Loans"”)
with an aggregated principal amount of RMB12.4 million.
The PRC Loans are unsecured and bear interest at the rate of
5% per annum with a term of 12 months.

As at 31 December 2023, the net of the PRC Loans (the “PRC
Loan Receivables”) amounted to approximately RMB8.1
million and an allowance for credit losses of the PRC Loan
Receivables amounted to approximately RMB4.4 million.

Accordingly, the aggregate of the outstanding principal
amount of the HK Loans and the PRC Loans amounted to
HK$15.8 million as at 31 December 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEFNWR DN

BUSINESS OVERVIEW (continued)
Provision of money lending services (continued)

Details of PRC Loans

REHE (&)
RUERERYE (8)
HEEMFE

Balance as at 31.12.2023

REZBZ=ZF+ZA=+—-BHWHER
Allowance for
Principal credit losses
as at as at Net as at
Borrower 31.12.2023 31.12.2023 31.12.2023
R-==-= R-E=-= R-ZBE=-=
+=ZA=t+—-B +=ZB=+—-HB +=A=+-—8H
BERA WEE€ WNEEBERE FpEsE-C]
RMB RMB RMB
AR¥TT AR®T AR T
Individual 1 — PRC resident 3,900,000 1,371,000 2,529,000
BA—FEEER
Individual 2 — PRC resident 3,000,000 1,055,000 1,945,000
AA2—FEER
Individual 3 — PRC resident 5,510,000 1,933,000 3,577,000
AA3I—FEER
12,410,000 4,359,000 8,051,000
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS OVERVIEW (continued)

Provision of money lending services (continued)

Loan impairments

The Company appointed valuer to ascertain the value for
the expected credit loss of the loans for the year ended 31
December 2023.

The impairment assessment was prepared on the basis of
Expected Credit Loss in accordance with “HKFRS 9 — Financial
Instruments”. The HKFRS 9 outlines a “Three-stage” general
approach (the “General Approach”) for impairment based on
changes in credit quality since initial recognition. To determine
the amount of impairment, the valuer discussed with the
management on the credit risk level on the status of the loans,
and split the receivables into different stage of default and then
by applying the Standard ECL Formula (i.e. expected credit loss
= exposure at default ("EAD") X probability of default (“PD")
X loss given default (“LGD")x discount factor) to come up
with the allowance for credit losses.

As at 31 December 2023, an impairment loss of the HK Loan
Receivables and PRC Loan Receivables of approximately HK$7.0
million was recognised (2022: impairment loss of the Total Loan
Receivables of approximately HK$16.9 million). The decrease
was mainly attributable to the decrease in outstanding principal
amount of the HK Loans and the PRC Loans.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEFNWR DN

BUSINESS OVERVIEW (continued)

Provision of money lending services (continued)
Internal control system

Before granting the loans, the Group has conducted credit
assessment basically follow the Internal Control Procedures
(as defined below) of the Company including but not limited
to the background of the potential customer including its job
nature and income for their repayment abilities.

The Group has considered the factors in credit assessment
before granting the loans. In light of the economic
uncertainties, the Group would only consider granting of
loans to independent third parties with collaterals/guarantee
in the future.

Internal control procedures (“Internal Control Procedures”)
The Company will consider certain factors in credit
assessment including but not limited to (i) the background of
the potential client including its job nature and income; (ii)
the credit history such as previous loans and the repayment
durations; and (iii) the bank history in the bank statement.

Loan terms are determined with mainly reference to the
market rates, financial background of each client and value
of collaterals (if applicable).

The identity, beneficial ownership of collaterals (if applicable)
and the amount wishes to borrow of the potential customer
will be assessed. After the assessment and based on the
information provided, the application will be reviewed and
preliminary due diligence will be conducted. Upon the loan
assessment, the officer will approve the loan application and
need to ensure that the customer meet the eligibility and
approval criteria for the loan. If the applicant is considered
fail after the assessment, the application will be denied.
When the application together with the relevant results
from the credit assessment are approved, the applicant will
sign the loan agreement and the loan will be drawn to the
applicant thereafter.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS OVERVIEW (continued)

Provision of money lending services (continued)
Internal control system (continued)

Internal control procedures (“Internal Control Procedures”)
(continued)

A loan register is maintained by the Group in order to keep
track of loan and interest repayments. The Group will also
remind clients before due date by telephone calls and/or
sending relevant debit notes.

If there were overdue loans, follow up telephone calls will
be made to remind clients for repayment. If clients still fail to
repay, demand letter will be issued. After a final reminder and
no response from customer, further actions included but not
limited to legal proceedings may be considered to institute to
recover the outstanding loan and interest receivable.

Provision of financial services
Due to unfavorable market conditions, no income was

generated from financial consultancy services.

Securities investments

The Group had equity instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income and financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss in aggregate of approximately
HK$473,000 as at 31 December 2023, representing
approximately 0.38% of the Company’s total assets (2022:
approximately HK$6,240,000, representing approximately
3.85% of the Company’s total assets).

The Company’s investment strategy is to invest in securities
that have growth potential, with the aims to capture
capital appreciation and diversify the Company’s investment
portfolio in order to reduce concentration of investment risks
in one industry and maximise value for the Shareholders. The
composition of the investment portfolio may change from
time to time during the coming year. In order to mitigate the
possible financial risks related to the equities, the investment
portfolio will be monitored regularly and appropriate actions
would be taken whenever necessary in a prudent manner in
response to changes in market situation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEFNWR DN

BUSINESS OVERVIEW (continued)

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Board admits the responsibility to environmental
protection. Over the years, the Group has committed to
reduce waste and pollution with a view of effective and
efficient resources utilisation in the office spaces. Staff are
reminded from time to time the Group’s direction in this
respect.

Compliance with the Relevant Laws and Regulations
The Group's main business and operation work within
common trade practice environment and the Group
endeavours to comply with all legal and regulatory
requirements. In relation to the human resources, the
Group is committed to comply with the requirements of the
applicable laws and regulations, such as the Employment
Ordinance, ordinances in relation to discrimination, the
Privacy Ordinance and the Minimum Wage Ordinance.
The Group also values good conduct of the employees
and has set out clear guidelines to prevent bribery and to
regulate the acceptance of benefits by the employees. On
the corporate level, the Group continuously complies with
the requirements under the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the GEM (“GEM Listing Rules”) of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) and the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO"), such as disclosure
of interests, corporate governance, Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of the Listed Issuers and “Inside
Information” disclosure. The Group employs legal and
financial advisers when undergoing acquisitions or other
corporate exercises. During the year ended 31 December
2023, there was no material breach of or non-compliance
with the applicable laws and rules by the Group.

The Group recognises importance of retaining talents to
ensure the ongoing execution of business plans. The Group
has established all-rounded staff policy and guidelines for
staff welfare, provide a safe workplace, and support the
development of talent. The Group provides incentives to
its employees based on their performance. The Group
encouraged employees to update their work-related
knowledge, skill by providing training offered by external
organisations. During the year, no violation of labour law
was recorded. The key customers of the Group include the
long term trading customers and tenants of the investment
properties. The key suppliers of the Group are the suppliers
of the trading business. The Group has established long
term and solid business relationship with the suppliers which
ensures stable supply and quality products which meet
customers’ demand. During the year, there was no material
dispute between the Group and the customers/suppliers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded
a revenue of approximately HK$48,952,000 (2022:
HK$26,134,000), representing an increase of approximately
87.3% as compared to that of last year.

Cost of sales for the year under review was approximately
HK$40,999,000 (2022: HK$30,328,000), representing an
increase of approximately 35.2% as compared to that of
last year. The increase of cost of sales was mainly due to the
increase in the distribution business.

Administrative expenses for the year under review was
approximately HK$17,770,000 (2022: HK$47,516,000),
representing a decrease of approximately 62.6% as
compared to that of last year. The decrease was mainly
attributable to the decrease in staff cost, entertainment cost
and professional fee.

Finance costs for the year under review was approximately
HK$2,962,000 (2022: HK$4,272,000), representing a
decrease of approximately 30.7% as compared to that of
last year. The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in
outstanding loan principal.

The Group recorded a loss for the year attributable to
owners of the Company in the amount of approximately
HK$20,560,000 (2022: HK$62,359,000). Basic loss per share
of the Company decrease from HK51.52 cents for the year
ended 31 December 2022 to HK15.82 cents for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group financed its business operations mainly with its
internally generated resources and borrowings during the
year under review. At 31 December 2023, the bank balances
and cash of the Group was approximately HK$1,616,000
(2022: HK$1,161,000).

At 31 December 2023, the net assets of the Group was
approximately HK$50,318,000 (2022: HK$71,934,000) and
the net current liabilities was approximately HK$33,367,000
(2022: HK$63,788,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWmE DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Gearing Ratio

At 31 December 2023, the total liabilities of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$73,464,000 (2022:
HK$90,161,000), which mainly comprised of trade and
other payables, contract liabilities, borrowings, margin loans
payables, financial guarantee contract, amounts due to non-
controlling interests and income tax payable. These liabilities
are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and United
State Dollars.

At 31 December 2023, the Group had total assets of
approximately HK$123,782,000 (2022: HK$162,095,000).
The gearing ratio of the Group, expressed as the ratio of total
liabilities to total assets, turned to 0.59 as at 31 December
2023 (2022: 0.56).

Segmental Information

An analysis of the Group'’s performance for the year ended
31 December 2023 by business segment is set out in note 6
to the consolidated financial statements.

Employees and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 34 (2022: 21)
total number of full-time employees. Staff costs, including
directors’ emoluments of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2023 were approximately HK$7,688,000 in
total (2022: HK$12,798,000). The Group determines the
remuneration and compensation payable to its staff based
on individual performance and expertise. Apart from basic
remuneration, share options may be granted to eligible
employees by reference to the Group’s performance as well
as individual contribution.

Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2023, the Company's issued ordinary
share capital was HK$1,300,017.31 divided into 130,001,731
shares of HK$0.01 each (“Shares”) (2022: HK$1,300,017.31
divided into 130,001,731 shares of HK$0.01 each).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Significant Investments, Acquisitions and Disposal of
investment properties

Acquisition of interest in certain properties in
Shenzhen, the PRC by additional acquisition of further
equity interests a subsidiary

On 17 July 2017, Yardley Wealth Management Limited
("YWML") and Skyline Top Limited (“STL"), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into an agreement
pursuant to which the YWML has agreed to sell and the STL
has agreed to purchase the sale shares (the “Sale Shares”),
representing 50% of the issued share capital of Delightful
Hope Limited (the “Target Company”) for cash consideration
of HK$55,000,000. The Target Company is a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company and is owned as to 50%
by each of YWML and STL. Following completion, the Target
Company will be wholly owned by the STL and will become
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. As at
the date of this report, this transaction has been completed.

Disposal of subsidiaries

On 26 July 2023, the Company as vendor, entered into a sale
and purchase agreement with the purchaser, an independent
third party, pursuant to which the Company has agreed
to sell to the purchaser, and the purchaser has agreed to
purchase from the Company the entire issued share capital
of China Agricultural Finance Group Limited (“CAFG") which
was wholly-owned by the Company, at the Consideration of
HK$20,000. CAFG is the sole legal and beneficial owner of
entire portfolio of issued ordinary shares in China AF Capital
Limited, China AF Investment Limited, Philippines Investment
Holdings Limited and China-Philippines Human Resources
Services Limited respectively. The disposal was completed on
26 July 2023.

On 31 August 2023, Joy Gold Trading Enterprises Limited
("Joy Gold") as vendor, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, has agreed to sell to the purchaser, an
independent third party, and the purchaser has agreed to
purchase from Joy Gold the entire issued share capital of
King Health International Holdings Limited which was wholly-
owned by Joy Gold, at the Consideration of HK$1. The
disposal was completed on 31 August 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWmE DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Significant Investments, Acquisitions and Disposal of
investment properties (continued)

Disposal of subsidiaries (continued)

On 31 August 2023, YIHE Enterprise Holding Limited
("YIHE") as vendor, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, has agreed to sell to the purchaser, an
independent third party, and the purchaser has agreed to
purchase from YIHE the entire issued share capital of Huge
Famous Corporation Limited which was wholly-owned by
YIHE, at the Consideration of HK$10,000. The disposal was
completed on 31 August 2023.

On 20 December 2023, Skyline Top Limited (“Skyline Top"”)
as vendor, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, has
agreed to sell to the purchaser, an independent third party,
and the purchaser has agreed to purchase from Skyline
Top the entire issued share capital of King Noble Holdings
Limited which was wholly-owned by Skyline Top, at the
Consideration of HK$1. The disposal was completed on 20
December 2023.

Disposal of an investment property

An indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, Success
Royal Investment Limited (“Success Royal”), has defaulted a
mortgage repayment to Delta Wealth Finance Limited (“Delta
Wealth"), a licensed money lender in Hong Kong, and
Delta Wealth filed an originating summons against Success
Royal on 21 February 2023 under Court of First Instance
Miscellaneous Proceedings No. 275 of 2023 (the “Originating
Summons”) to, inter alia, recover possession of the Property
and claim for amounts due and owing under the Mortgage.
The amount due and owing by Success Royal to Delta Wealth
was approximately HK$10,421,000 as at 21 February 2023.

The Court ordered, inter alia, on 6 July 2023 that Success
Royal do repay HK$10,530,000 together with interest at the
rate of 12% per annum from 8 March 2023 to the date of
the Order and thereafter at judgment rate until payment to
Delta Wealth (the “Judgment Sum”), and that Success Royal
do surrender vacant possession of the mortgaged property to
Delta Wealth by 2 August 2023. Success Royal surrendered
vacant possession of the mortgaged property to Delta Wealth
on 14 July 2023.

On 27 July 2023, Delta Wealth informed Success Royal that
Delta Wealth contemplates to dispose of the mortgaged
property at the sale price of HK$9,780,000 (the “Forced
Sale”), and net proceeds therefrom will be utilised to off-set
against the Judgment Sum.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Significant Investments, Acquisitions and Disposal of
investment properties (continued)

Disposal of an investment property (continued)

For further details, please refer to the announcements dated
1 August 2023.

Disposal of partial of PRC properties

On 3 November 2023 and 30 December 2023, Fuyu Zhonghe
Xinnong Market Real Estate Co., Ltd* (“Fuyu”), an ex-indirect
associate of the Company and being the property developer
of the PRC properties, entered into two sale and purchase
agreements with two independent third parties to dispose of
certain PRC properties at the consideration of RMB4,250,000
("Disposal 1”) and RMB3,500,000 (“Disposal I1") respectively
in which the Board had approved and consent Fuyu to
sell the PRC properties on behalf of the Group. As at the
date of this report, the Disposal | and Disposal Il have been
completed.

Litigation

Shenzhen Shengshi Fugiang Technology Company Limited
(Shengshi Fugiang), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, has received a claim for lost of assets at the sum
of approximately RMB1,964,000. The Plaintiff commenced
civil proceedings against Shengshi Fugiang and filed a
statement that they cannot retrieve the furniture and
equipment from the premises owned by Shengshi Fugiang
and was leased to the Plaintiff, and therefore Shengshi
Fugiang should compensate for the Plaintiff's lost. Shengshi
Fugiang has made a counterclaim against the Plaintiff for
outstanding rent and delay in deliver vacant possession at the
sum of approximately RMB980,000. The case was first heard
in Court on 26 February 2021. After second court hearing,
according to the written judgement of the court, the Plaintiff
will be responsible to pay to Shengshi Fugiang an amount
of RMB596,000 for claims and legal expense and Shengshi
Fugiang will be responsible to pay to the Plaintiff an amount
of RMB594,000 for damages and valuation fee. The Plaintiff
has made an appeal on 26 February 2022. Subsequent to
the reporting period, the Court of Appeal has dismissed the
appeal. According to the written judgement by the Court
dated 26 March 2024, the responsibility of both Plaintiff and
Shengshi Fugiang has been upheld.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWmE DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Charges on Group's Assets

As at 31 December 2023, the listed equity investments
listed in Hong Kong with the fair value of approximately
HK$137,000 (2022: HK$2,161,000) have been pledged to
financial institutions to secure the margin loans payables of
approximately HK$2,065,000 (2022: HK$4,768,000).

Unlisted investment which are classified as equity instruments
at fair value through other comprehensive income were
pledged to a PRC company as to secure a 3-year loan of
RMB4,550,000 granted to a private company.

Contingent Liabilities and Guarantee

At 31 December 2022, the financial guarantee provided
to Gold Wide Holdings Limited by the Group, which is
classified as an interest in associate in the consolidated
financial statements of the Group, for a term loan with a
principal amount of RMB13 million, bearing interest of 8%
per annum for a period of three years up to 14 January 2022
(2022: RMB13 million). Since the term loan has been fully
settled during year ended 31 December 2023, the financial
guarantee shall be discharged accordingly.

Capital Commitments

At 31 December 2023, the Group had capital commitment
amounting to approximately HK$55,966,000 (2022:
HK$43,202,000).

Exposure to Fluctuation in Exchange Rates

All of the Group’s assets, liabilities and transactions are
mainly denominated either in Hong Kong dollars or Renminbi
or United State Dollars or New Taiwan dollars. The Directors
do not consider that the Group is exposed to any material
foreign currency exchange risk. Therefore, no hedging
devices or other alternative have been implemented.

Events after the Reporting Period

There were no other significant events arising subsequent to
the year ended 31 December 2023 and as at the date of this
report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

The Hong Kong economy has been stable and is expected
to be improved in 2024 led by the recovery of inbound
tourism and domestic demand. Looking forward, inbound
tourism and domestic demand will remain the major drivers
of economic growth this year. Visitor arrivals should recover
further as transportation and handling capacity continue to
catch up. The improving economic situation and prospects
should boost domestic demand, though tight financial
conditions will remain a constraint. The Group will continue
allocating its resources carefully in different segments as to
optimize its investment returns.

One-stop value chain services

Since the economy of Hong Kong has been hit hard, many
companies have minimised their budget on IT related services.
The Group tried to enter into the gaming industry by selling
gaming related products to sustain its business, however, the
Directors were of the view that it was not so sustainable.
As such, the Directors decided to focus on other existing
businesses and to expand the depth of their involvement on
such business.

Property investment

The Group originally has few property investments in Hong
Kong and the PRC. The Group is cautious of the tension
between USA and China, as well as the pessimistic global
atmosphere. After disposal of investments portfolio in 2023,
the Group has no plan to make any acquisition in the near
future.

EEENWE DN

RERAIR
EABKRERBEAFTREENTES T~ FE
RBERFIBELEF N T _MFFHHRE-
RERK ABKERBAFTRIDGRES F
REREN T ERE) /) - B E 358 MR IE AL
WM AERRS KEINSDARESE T O
T BERBOMBARDERRHEER B
REVEMARNRERGREAANT K&
BRFEZRSEERT AR D E AR
REM@R -

— X EEBERE
HREEREXINNEIE HEZRAFCHE
ERDVITHEARFNESE AEERHINEB
HEEBEEEREABRITR NEHER
HEB AM EFRBRELFAIFEE-
Wit EFREZEREMRAEF LR
WMELEAEBH2EE -

MERE
AEERAERERTEFAELEVERE -
AEEHPEZHANERBDE AR RAEE
BHEFBEEE R _T_=ZFLHEREH
AR AEEYEFIRIANGRETE
] Y2 o

China Eco-Farming Limited FER2 £ £ EER A 7
Annual Report 2023 =% = = F F 3}

21



22

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEFNWR DN

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS (continued)

Distribution business

The Group identifies local and overseas suppliers, mainly
including manufacturers, brand owners, and wholesalers,
to sources and procures desirable food and beverages,
agricultural products and consumable, and distribute the
products in Hong Kong and the PRC.

For food and beverages, with the continuous effort of the
management of the Group in diversifying the portfolio of
food and beverages, the Group mainly offers (i) processed
seafood (e.g. crab stick, snow crab leg, scallop, fish tofu
and fish balls); (ii) fresh and frozen seafood (e.g. fish,
crab, lobster and scallops); (iii) fresh and frozen meat (e.g.
wagyu); (iv) grocery food (e.g. cereals and legumes, oilseeds,
grain and oilseed products); and (v) liquor (e.g. whisky and
wine). The food and beverage products are distributed and
marketed to a wide range of corporate customers, including
supermarkets, grocery stores, catering companies and
chained restaurants in Hong Kong. The food and beverage
products are also marketed and sold to end-customers
through online sales platforms, including the online store
on a third-party online platform (i.e. HKTVmall) and the
self-operated online store of the Group on a social media
platform (i.e. Facebook online shop).

For agricultural products, the Group mainly distributes
sunflower meals to a reputable customer, which is a Chinese
state-owned enterprise, since FY2022. Sunflower meals are
primarily used in food rations for livestock and poultry due to
its high protein content. The Group is still in the negotiation
with such enterprise in sourcing and suppling corn to it.

For consumable products, the Group mainly offers re-usable
bags to various type of customers, including government
authority (i.e. Hong Kong Post Office), corporate customers
which include companies listed on the Main Board,
educational institutions (e.g. schools, Education Bureau) and
non-governmental organisations (NGOs).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS (continued)

Provision of money lending services

Under the current economy environment, the Directors
believe that there will be increase demand of money lending
of individuals or corporate customers. However, at the
same time, risk of default may increase as it may be hard
for the customers to repay the loan at this difficult time.
The management will further enhance the loan approval
procedures and carefully filter and screen out customers with
high risks in order to protect the interest of the Group. The
Directors are more cautions in the development of the money
lending business. The Group will continue to maintain sound
credit control policy to balance the finance income against
credit risk from respective borrowers.

Provision of financial services

The performance of the financial services business has not
been satisfactory over a couple of years. The Directors have
scaled down the financial services business and reallocated
resources from the financial services to develop other
businesses that the Group expected to have a brighter
prospect.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHRE

The Directors present the annual report and audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 47 to
the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income on pages 89 to 90 of
this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

Discussion and analysis of the principal activities of the Group
as required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance can be found in the Management Discussion and
Analysis set out on pages 8 to 23 of this annual report. These
discussions form part of this Directors’ Report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on
page 284 of this annual report.

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in plant and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in Note
16 to the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The five largest customers accounted for approximately
71.4% (2022: 54.3%) of the Group’s turnover, and the five
largest suppliers accounted for approximately 90.0% (2022:
60.9%) of the Group’s purchase, for the year ended 31
December 2023. To the best knowledge of the Directors,
at no time during the year ended 31 December 2023, any
Director or his associates or any shareholder (who owned
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) has
any interest in the above-mentioned customers or suppliers.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year ended 31 December
2023 in the share capital of the Company are set out in Note
37 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
on pages 93 to 94 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company did not have any
reserves available for cash/in specie dividend distribution to
shareholders of the Company.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND CLOSURE OF
REGISTER OF MEMBERS

It is proposed that the annual general meeting ("AGM") of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023 will
be held on a date to be fixed by the Board. Notice of the
AGM will be published on the website of the Company
at www.chinaeco-farming.com as well as despatched to
shareholders in due course.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 6 May
2011 (the “Share Option Scheme”).

The Share Option Scheme was in force for a period of 10
years from 6 May 2011 to 5 May 2021. The purpose of
the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Group to grant
options to eligible participants the Directors may at its
absolute discretion select as incentives or rewards for their
contribution to the Group. Eligible participants include
any employee (whether full-time or part-time, including
executive directors, non-executive directors and independent
nonexecutive directors), shareholder, customer, supplier of
the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any entity (“Invested
Entity”) in which the Group holds an equity interest; any
person or entity that provides research, development or
other technological support, any adviser (professional or
otherwise) or consultant to any area of business or business
development of the Group or any Invested Entity; and any
other group or classes of participants who have contributed
or may contribute by way of joint venture, business alliance
or other business arrangement to the development and
growth of the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHRE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The total number of shares issued and which may fall to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Group (including both exercised or outstanding options) to
each participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed
1% of the issued share capital of the Company for the time
being (the “Individual Limit”). Any further grant of options
in excess of the Individual Limit in any 12-month period
up to and including the date of such further grant shall be
subject to the Shareholders’ approval in general meeting of
the Company. Where any grant of options to a substantial
Shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the
Company or any of their respective associates, would result
in the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options already granted and to be granted (including options
exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the
12-month period up to and including the date of such grant:
(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in issue;
and (ii) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price
of the shares at the date of each grant, in excess of HK$5
million; such further grant of options must be approved by
the Shareholders in general meeting.

An option may be exercised at any time during a period to
be determined and notified by the Directors to each grantee,
which period may commence on the date upon which the
offer for the grant of options is made but shall end in any
event not later than 10 years from the date of grant of
the option subject to the provisions for early termination
as set out in the Share Option Scheme. Unless otherwise
determined by the Directors and stated in the offer of the
grant of options to a grantee, there is no minimum period
required under the Share Option Scheme for the holding of
an option before it can be exercised.

A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance
of the grant of an option. The subscription price for shares
under the Share Option Scheme will be a price determined
by the Directors, but shall not be less than the higher of (i)
the closing price of shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheet on the date of the offer of grant,
which must be a business day; (ii) the average closing price
of shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of
the offer of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the shares.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 6
May 2011, the Company was also authorised to issue up to
242,459,969 shares (i.e. 121,229,984 consolidated shares
upon the share consolidation effective on 11 October 2013)
upon exercise of all options (excluding, for this purpose,
options which have lapsed in accordance with the terms
of the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Group) to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Group,
being 10% of the shares in issue on 6 May 2011 (the
“General Scheme Limit”). The Company may seek separate
Shareholders’ approval in general meeting to grant options
beyond the General Scheme Limit to participants specifically
identified by the Company before such approval is sought.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the maximum number of
shares to be issued upon the exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Group must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the issued
share capital of the Company from time to time.

On 7 December 2020, the Company granted 55,800,000
share options as to 9,300,000 share options to a director
and, 46,500,000 share options under the Share Option
Scheme to 5 consultants of the Company, who are not
directors or employees of the Group (the “Non-employee
Participants”). Exercise price of the share option was
HK$0.0554 to subscribe for one ordinary share of HK$0.01
each of the Company. Closing price of the Shares of the
Company was HK$0.0550. These Non-employee Participants
provide consultancy services, business development support
to the Group, including but not limited to provision of advice
in relation to the business expansion in the grocery industry
and technical consultancy, and sourcing potential business
development opportunity to the Group.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

BRESTE (&)
RZE——FRANBEITZARTRER
FREGLE ARRRBIEERETERAER
FREMBRETES TEREEIERE (T
BE - BRUEmME BIEERESERAEET
T EAb B AR HE ST MG TR E R 2 BB AR #E ) 17
1% - TNER 21T £ £242,459,969/% IR 19
(B eaHR—_ZE—=F+A+—B4E®E
2121,229,984/% & 1D MBI =& ——
FRANHEBEBITRG Z210% ([—&5TE £
BR1) ) - ARBRBREARE LA SRR S
THE - MARBESRKZLERE K RIE
EZ2EERNBR —MTE LR ZBIRE-
BEWMERM - RBEREFERASE T
Al E b B AR AT B BB S R ITFE M B AR E
ETFEREETFETROMBEZZTEBBAN
NETEEBEITIRAMN30% ©

RZZE-ZE+-_A+H AQAFEHE
55,800,0000 fEfE i Edhm—REEE N
9,300,00017 B J i - K [ W FE AN £ B & E 5k
EBEMNAARSEZER ([FFRELHAE )R
¥ B& ML AE 5T 278 T #946,500,00017 BE IS 4 - 32
BAAR—REARKR (ZRAEEINET)Z
BB RS HE 1T (8 /8 /20.055478 7T ° AN 2 A A 17 Y Uk
M{EAR0.0S508 L ZEIFEELEERAS
EREERRE EHKBEEIR BEETR
REEBITEREMBZANEBERRERER
B URBREEMEBEXBERKE -

Number of Number of
Business segment Services Provided/Providing share options consultants
E 33k BRI 42 RS BREHAR BEEEE
Business development Trading of consumable products 9,300,000 1
FBER HEME H
Business development Business expansion in the grocery market 9,300,000 * 3 3

and technical consultancy = 27,900,000

EBERE TR i T 35 [ R 1T 56 59 77 T B S S 4R R
Administration Business Administration and legal, financial 9,300,000 1

and risk advice

1T

23
K

TREENARER 2/ MERES

China Eco-Farming Limited FER2 £ £ EER A 7
Annual Report 2023 =% = = F F 3}

27



28

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHRE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The Board considered that the share options granted to the
consultants can help retaining and motivating these Non-
employee Participants to generate growth in the Company’s
value. The share options were granted to these consultants
to provide incentives to continuously make contributions to
the long term growth of the Group and to maintain an on-
going relationship with them.

Pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules 23.09(3) that the total
number of share options available for issue under the Share
Option Scheme was nil since the Share Option Scheme
lapsed on 5 May 2021, representing 0% of the issued shares
of the Company as at the date of the Annual Report, which
does not exceed 30% of the total number of shares of the
Company in issue from time to time.

As at 31 December 2023, the number of Shares in respect of
which options had been granted and accepted and remained
outstanding under the Share Option Scheme was 5,614,428
after the Capital Reorganisation of the Company which
became effective on 22 October 2021 and adjusted after
the completion of the Rights Issue completed on 19 May
2022 (2022: 5,614,428 after the Capital Reorganisation and
completion of the Rights Issue), representing approximately
4.32% (2022: 4.32%) of the Company’s issued share capital
as at that date.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
The Directors who held office during the year ended 31
December 2023 and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Chun Fai (Chairman)

Mr. Tin Ka Pak, Timmy (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. So David Tat Man

Mr. Li Aiming (appointed on 10 May 2023)

Mr. Ng Cheuk Fan, Keith (resigned on 13 March 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey

Mr. Zhang Min

Ms. Yuen Wai Man (resigned on 19 July 2023)
Ms. Siu Yuk Ming (appointed on 26 March 2024)
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
(continued)

Each independent non-executive Director has signed an
appointment letter with the Company for a fixed term of two
years and may be terminated by not less than three months
prior notice in writing served by either party to the other
in accordance with the provisions set out in the respective
appointment letter.

Each executive Director has entered into a service agreement
with the Company for an initial fixed term of two years and
will continue thereafter until terminated by not less than six
months’ notice in writing served by either party to the other
in accordance with the provisions set out in the respective
service agreement except for Mr. Li who has signed a service
contract with the Company for a fixed term of one year
and may be terminated by not less than one month prior
notice in writing served by either party to the other. Each of
the executive Directors may receive a discretionary bonus,
the amount of which will be determined by the Board at its
absolute discretion having regard to the operation results of
the Company and performance of the Directors.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at
the AGM has a service contract with the Company, which
is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation other than statutory
compensation.

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey, Mr.
Zhang Min and Ms. Siu Yuk Ming, an annual confirmation of
their independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules and the Company considers all of the independent
non-executive Directors are independent.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

There was no contract of significance to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted during or at the end of the year ended 31
December 2023.
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EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS, CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors, chief executive
and the five highest paid individuals of the Group are set out
in Notes 12 and 13 to the consolidated financial statements,
respectively.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS OR
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions
of the Directors or the chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Future Ordinance (the “SFO"))
which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which they
have taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO), or which were required to be entered in the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO or which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of
the GEM Listing Rules relating to securities transactions by
the Directors, were as follows:

Long position in the underlying shares in respect of the share
options of the Company (which were regarded as unlisted
physically settled equity derivatives) granted under the Share
Option Scheme adopted by the Company on 6 May 2011:

EE BETBRABRIEUGESHAL
<=
AEEEE RS TRABRAUEEHA
THMEFBED RSN S M RRMTE12
K13 e

EERBETHRAEREAQTREM
MEEE 2R HERGO R ES 2&
BEKA

RZE_=F+-"A=+—HB XxRAE=E
KB ITHABRAR R S A5 A E
(EERBHRAEGRN ([FBHKBEKG])
EXVER) Z B fh iR D R EHRERRIE
FH R EBEKRGIEXVEIE7RSD A ME A
RAIRBMZIzEGERAR (BREREES
REEGRIZERXBESHEEIRAES
R TORR) KR IEFE H M HI & (&5 55352
EARARRBFEZERM o @Em AR
URBEHERETESFRRSEBZGEMET
RAIFES 461K EFE5.67IKAMEARA T R
FTztEes KRBT :

BABRBARRR T ——FRANBAEK
M BREG RN AR EIRE (B8R
RIEEMAEY LW AITE T A) WIEREE

BN A -

Outstanding

Outstanding Lapsed as at

Exercise price asat  Granted during Exercised during during 31 December

Name Date of grant per Share  Exercisable period 1 January 2023 the year the year the year 2023
(HK$)

R=B==f R=Bz=f

SRRG -A-H +ZB=+-H

i RiLAH fEE TS ES:d EREIH ERfTE EREN AT
(%)

So David Tat Man 7 December 2020 0.5506 7 December 2020 - 935,738 - - - 935,738

FiEX “Z-Z%+-A+tH (Note) 6 December 2025 (Note)

(W) —T-FE+-A+AZ (W)

ZZZRETZARA

Note: After the completion of the Rights Issue of the Company on Bt
19 May 2022, the exercise price was adjusted to HK$0.5506 B T EERABRE0SS6ETRET — 4
and the outstanding share options granted to a director TEE 7 MARITH A IR SR 2035,738
were adjusted to 935,738. 5o
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S RIGHTS TO
ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBT SECURITIES

Save as disclosed under the section “DIRECTORS’ AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF
THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS”
above, at no time during the Reporting Period, there
subsisted arrangements to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries is a party, being arrangements whose subjects
are, or one of whose objects is, to enable any of the directors
or the chief executive of the Company to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debt securities
(including debentures) of the Company or any other body
corporate, and none of the directors of the Company, their
spouse or their children under the age of 18, had any right
to subscribe for the securities of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2023.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

So far as the Directors are aware of and having made due
enquiries, as at 31 December 2023, the following parties,
other than the Directors or the chief executive of the
Company, had interests or short positions directly or indirectly
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO or recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued)
Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of

the Company:

FERR (&)
REQXARDREBROG ZHR:

Percentage of

Number of issued share
Shareholder Capacity shares capital
e &1
B R g4 BHEEHE BREAzZBDL
A 'S Investment Holdings Ltd (Note 1) Beneficial owner 14,135,200 10.87%
A S Investment Holdings Ltd (Fff3£1) EnEBA
Ever Better Holdings Ltd (Note 1) Interest of controlled corporation 14,135,200 10.87%
Ever Better Holdings Ltd (Fff3E1) ZEGEEEE
Ms. Yeung Sau Han Agnes (Note 1) Beneficial owner, interest of 16,167,600 12.44%
B (k1) spouse and interest of
controlled corporation
EnlEa A REERR
P EE s
Mr. So Chi Ming (Note 1) (Note 2) Beneficial owner, interest of 16,167,600 12.44%
BREBRLA (MsE1) (HIsE2) spouse and interest of
controlled corporation
EnlEa A REERR
IR H A E R
VC Brokerage Limited (Note 3) Beneficial owner 11,300,000 8.69%
EBESFARAT (MFE3) EnlEA A
VC Financial Group Limited (Note 3) Interest of controlled corporation 11,300,000 8.69%
ERSREEEGR AR (MFE3) 2 A E
Value Convergence Holdings Limited Beneficial owner and interest of 12,161,600 9.35%

(Note 3)

ERERARAR (HE3)

controlled corporation

BEat A ARZIEFAE# D
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of

the Company: (continued)

Note 1: A S Investment Holdings Ltd is wholly-owned by Ever
Better Holdings Ltd (“Ever Better”). Ever Better is 50%
owned by Ms. Yeung Sau Han Agnes (“Ms. Yeung”) and
50% owned by Mr. So Chi Ming (“Mr. So”). Ms. Yeung
is personally interested in 342,000 ordinary shares in the
Company. Mr. So is personally interested in 1,190,400
ordinary shares in the Company. Ms. Yeung is the spouse
of Mr. So.

Note 2:  Mr. So is uncle of Mr. So David Tat Man, an executive

director of the Company.

Note 3: VC Brokerage Limited is wholly-owned by VC Financial

Group Limited (“VC Financial”). VC Financial is wholly-

owned by Value Convergence Holdings Limited (“VC

Holdings”). VC Holdings is a company listed on the main

board of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange Limited and has

an interest of 861,000 shares as beneficial owner.

Save as disclosed above, the Company is not aware of any
other person, other than a director or the chief executive
of the Company, who held interests or short positions in
the shares and underlying shares of the Company as at 31
December 2023 as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

REPURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2023, neither the
Company, nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions during the year
ended 31 December 2023 are set out in Note 45 to the
consolidated financial statements.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors or controlling shareholders of the
Company or any of their respective associates (as defined
in the GEM Listing Rules) had any business or interest that
compete with the business of the Group or has or may have
any other conflict of interest with the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2023.
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES
Details of the retirement benefits schemes are set out in Note
41 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’'s Bye-laws although there is no restriction against
such under the laws in Bermuda.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are
set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” section of this
report.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company's environmental, social and
governance practices are set out in the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” section of this report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees and senior
management of the Group is set up by the remuneration
committee of the Company on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the
remuneration committee of the Company, having regard
to market competitiveness, individual performance and
achievement.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an
incentive to Directors and eligible employees, details of the
scheme is set out under the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” above and also in Note 40 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has maintained a sufficient public float as required
under the GEM Listing Rules during the year ended 31
December 2023 and up to the date of this report.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) on 31 July 2001 with written terms of reference
in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules. The primary
duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise
the financial reporting process and internal control and risk
management systems of the Group. The Audit Committee
currently comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Ms. Siu Yuk Ming (Chairman), Mr. Yick
Ting Fai, Jeffrey and Mr. Zhang Min.

The audited financial results of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee.

AUDITOR

Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited (“Asian Alliance”) was
appointed as auditor of the Company on 30 November 2018
and subsequently re-appointed at the general meetings held
on 23 May 2019, 5 June 2020, 10 June 2021 and 16 June
2022. The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2023 was audited by Asian Alliance. A
resolution for the reappointment of Asian Alliance as auditor
of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

By Order of the Board
Liu Chun Fai
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 12 July 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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INTRODUCTION

The board of Directors (the “Board”) and the management
of the Company are committed to the maintenance of good
corporate governance practices and procedures.

The corporate governance principles of the Company
emphasise a quality Board, sound internal controls,
transparency and accountability to all shareholders of the
Company.

The Company has complied with the applicable code
provisions on Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report (the "CG Code”) as set out in Appendix
15 to the GEM Listing Rules throughout the year under
review except for the following deviation:

Following the resignation of Ms. Yuen Wai Man (“Ms.
Yuen”), an independent non-executive director of the
Company on 19 July 2023:

(i) total number of independent non-executive Directors
accounts for less than three and hence the Company
fails to meet the requirement of Rule 5.05(1) of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of
the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”);

(i) the number of members of the audit committee of
the Company will fall below the minimum number
required under Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules;
and

(iii) Pursuant to GEM Listing Rule 17.104 and FAQ Series
17 No. 19F(1), the nomination committee (or the
board) shall have a policy concerning diversity of
board members. While diversity of board members
can be achieved through consideration of a number
of factors, the Stock Exchange will not consider
diversity to be achieved for a single gender board.
Where an issuer who already has directors of both
genders on board on or after 1 January 2022, but
subsequently at any time has failed to meet any of the
other requirements in the Rule, it must (i) immediately
publish an announcement containing the relevant
details and reasons and (ii) appoint appropriate
members to the board to meet the requirement(s)
within three months after failing meeting such
requirement(s). Following Ms. Yuen's resignation, the
Company maintains a single gender board. As a result,
the Company is not in compliance with GEM Listing
Rule 17.104.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INTRODUCTION (continued)

On 26 March 2024, Ms. Siu Yuk Ming was appointed
as independent non-executive director of the Company.
Following Ms. Siu's appointment, the Company has re-
complied with the relevant GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the rules set out in Rules 5.48
to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as its code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by Directors. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, the Company was not aware
of any non-compliance with the required standard as set out
in such code of conduct regarding securities transactions by
the Directors throughout the year ended 31 December 2023.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises seven Directors, four executive
Directors and three are independent non-executive Directors.
The Board members for the year ended 31 December 2023
and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Chun Fai (Chairman)

Mr. Tin Ka Pak, Timmy (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Li Aiming (appointed on 10 May 2023)

Mr. So David Tat Man

Mr. Ng Cheuk Fan, Keith (resigned on 13 March 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey
Mr. Zhang Min
Ms. Yuen Wai Man
(resigned on 19 July 2023)
Ms. Siu Yuk Ming
(appointed on 26 March 2024)

The Directors’ biographical information are set out on pages
5 to 7 in this report. All executive Directors have given
sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Group.
Each executive Director has sufficient experience to hold the
position so as to carry out his duties effectively and efficiently.
There is no relationship among the members of the Board.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

The Company is committed to having a diversity of the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy. The
Company considers that having a Board with diverse culture
would assure Directors that their views are heard, their
concerns are attended to and they serve in an environment
where bias, discrimination and harassment on any matter
are not tolerated. The Board has adopted a board diversity
policy which sets out the approach to achieve diversity
on the Board. Board appointments are based on merit
and candidates are considered against objective criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board
including, but not limited to, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service.

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board
consisted of three independent non-executive Directors,
except after resignation of Ms. Yuen on 19 July 2023, who
have appropriate and sufficient experience and qualification
to carry out their duties so as to protect the interests of the
shareholders of the Company. One of the independent non-
executive Directors has appropriate professional qualification
or accounting or related financial management expertise
as required by Rule 5.05(2) of the GEM Listing Rules.
Each independent non-executive Director has signed an
appointment letter with the Company for an initial fixed
term of two years and may be terminated by not less than
three months prior notice in writing served by either party to
the other or in accordance with the provisions set out in the
respective appointment letter.

The Board considers that all of the independent nonexecutive
Directors are independent and have received from each of
them the annual confirmation of independence required by
Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Board is responsible for approving and monitoring of
the Group's overall strategies and policies; approving of
business plans; evaluating the performance of the Group and
overseeing the management. The Board focuses on overall
strategies and policies with particular attention paid to the
growth and financial performance of the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Group
to the executive Directors and senior management, while
reserving certain key matters for its approval. Decisions of
the Board are communicated to the management through
executive Directors who have attended Board meetings.

The Company has arranged insurance coverage on Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions which
may be taken against its Directors and officers in the
execution and discharge of their duties or in relation thereto.

BOARD MEETINGS AND DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE
The Board meets regularly at least four times a year to review
the financial and operating performance of the Group.

Details of the attendance record of each Director at the
meetings of the Board and general meetings of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2023 are as follows:
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Attendance of

HE
Board General
Meetings Meetings
Exegesd RREKXE
Executive Directors BITES

Mr. Liu Chun Fai BEELE 7/7 0/0
Mr. Tin Ka Pak, Timmy AR\ EE 6/7 0/0
Mr. Li Aiming FERALE 3/5 0/0
Mr. So David Tat Man BRIEN KA 717 0/0
Mr. Ng Cheuk Fan, Keith RENKAE 717 0/0

Independent Non-executive Directors BYkHITES
Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey SRS E 6/7 0/0
Mr. Zhang Min wREESE 717 0/0
Ms. Yuen Wai Man rREHTL 212 0/0
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BOARD PRACTICES

Apart from the four regular Board meetings for the year
ended 31 December 2023 which were not held due to delay
in publication of results announcement for the year ended
31 December 2022, the Board met on other occasions when
a board-level decision on a particular matter was required.
The Directors received detailed agenda and documents prior
to the meetings of the Board to ensure that the Directors
were able to make informed decisions regarding the matters
discussed in the meetings. All Directors may access the
advice, regulatory updates on governance and regulatory
matters from professional parties if necessary.

The Company Secretary and the company secretarial team
are responsible to take and keep minutes of all Board
meetings and committee meetings and ensure compliance
with the procedures of the Board meetings and general
meetings of the Company. Draft minutes are normally
circulated to Directors for comment within a reasonable time
after each meeting and the final version is open for Directors’
inspection.

TRAINING FOR DIRECTORS

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary
induction and information to ensure that he/she has a proper
understanding of the Company’s operations and businesses
as well as his/her responsibilities under the relevant statutes,
laws, rules and regulations.

The Company provides regular updates and presentations
on changes and developments relating to the Group’s
business and the legislative and regulatory environments to
the Directors at the Board meetings. Trainings conducted by
professional service provider regarding Listing Rules’ updates
on corporate governance have been provided to the Directors
to ensure a high standard of corporate governance is upheld
and that the Directors possess up-to-date information to
discharge their duties.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRAINING FOR DIRECTORS (continued)

The Directors are committed to complying with Code
Provision A.6.5 of the CG Code on Directors’ training.
All Directors have participated in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills and provided a record of training they received for the
year ended 31 December 2023 to the Company.

All of the Directors have either attended seminars organized
by external professionals relevant to the business or directors’
duties or read professional materials published by regulators
or professional bodies for the year ended 31 December 2023.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The positions and roles of chairman of the Board and chief
executive of the Company should be held and performed
separately by two individuals to ensure their respective
independence, accountability and responsibility. During the
year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has a chairman
and a chief executive officer respectively.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

The remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”) had been formed in 2005
pursuant to a resolution passed by the Board. Following the
re-domicile of the Company from the Cayman Islands into
Bermuda in October 2007, it was re-established pursuant
to a resolution passed by the Board on 15 February 2008
and specific terms of reference were adopted. As at 31
December 2023, the Remuneration Committee comprises
two members, all are independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey, and Mr. Zhang Min. Mr.
Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS (continued)

The role and function written in the terms of reference of
the Remuneration Committee are no less exacting terms
than the Code. The Remuneration Committee makes
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior
management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy.
The Remuneration Committee also reviews and recommends
the Board on its proposals relating to the remuneration
of the executive Directors with reference to the Board's
corporate goal and objectives. No Directors or any of his/
her associates can be involved in deciding his/her own
remuneration. Factors such as salaries paid by comparable
companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the
Directors, employment conditions elsewhere in the Group
and desirability of performance-based remuneration are
considered by the Remuneration Committee to determine
the remuneration package of individual executive Directors
including benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments including any compensation payable for loss or
termination of their office or appointment; or relating to
dismissal or removal for misconduct to ensure that it is
consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise fair, not
excessive, reasonable and appropriate.

Frequency of Meetings and Attendance

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Remuneration
Committee of the Company held one meeting to review the
remuneration packages of new appointed Director. Details of
the attendance of the meeting are as follows:

EEFMH (&)
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TERTUNZGH-FHEZEEIARAE
EREREEBMAETFMIBRRRBEAR
RERFMBERMA L ER XA FZRAENE
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MFHe EFRRNEEHMLE AREH
8 PR AR 1F I B R IR S S M e B R 3%
femBETEMNTESNHFMTE  BHEFS
ENa BRI REESRE (BRERLK
RIFBBRZEMEMNOREE: HERETT
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Attendance
Name of members KREBRR HE IR
Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey (Chairman) GREEBRE (FE) A
Mr. Zhang Min REESE 11
Ms. Yuen Wai Man REHL 1/1
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NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

The nomination committee of the Company (the
“Nomination Committee”) had been formed in 2005
pursuant to a resolution passed by the Board. Following
the re-domicile of the Company from the Cayman Islands
into Bermuda in October 2007, the Nomination Committee
was re-established pursuant to a resolution passed by the
Board on 15 February 2008 and specific terms of reference
were adopted. As at 31 December 2023, the Nomination
Committee comprises two members, of which all of them
are independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Yick
Ting Fai, Jeffrey and Mr. Zhang Min. Mr. Zhang Min is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The functions of the Nomination Committee are reviewing
and supervising the structure, size and composition of the
Board, identifying qualified individuals to become members
of the Board, assessing the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors and making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors
and senior management.

Where vacancies on the Board exist, the Nomination
Committee will carry out the selection process by making
reference to the skills, experience, professional knowledge,
personal integrity and time commitments of the proposed
candidates, including the independence status in the case of
an independent non-executive Director, the Company’s needs
and other relevant statutory requirements and regulations.

The Board has also adopted a board diversity policy which
sets out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board.
Accordingly, selection of candidates to the Board is based
on a range of measurable objectives, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience and qualifications, skills, knowledge
and length of service, having due regard to the Company’s
own business model and specific needs from time to time.
With the existing Board members coming from a variety
of business and professional background, the Company
considers that the Board possesses a balance of skills,
experience, expertise and diversity of perspectives appropriate
to the requirements of the Company’s business.
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NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Frequency of Meetings and Attendance

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Nomination
Committee held one meeting to review the nomination of a
new Director. Details of the attendance of the meeting are as

EEZRESE (E)
EEREREFER
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follows:

Attendance
Name of members REER HE IR
Mr. Zhang Min (Chairman) RR&EE (FE) 11
Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey SREB L 11
Ms. Yuen Wai Man REHL 1/1

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee (the "Audit
Committee”) on 31 July 2001 with written terms of reference

in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules. The
of the Audit Committee are to review and

primary duties
supervise the

financial reporting process and risk management and internal
control systems of the Group. As at 31 December 2023, the
Audit Committee comprises two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey and Mr. Zhang

Min.

The responsibilities of the Audit Committee include making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditors and
to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement

of the external auditors, and any questions

of resignation

or dismissal of such auditors; reviewing the quarterly,
interim and annual reports and accounts of the Group; and
supervising the financial reporting process and effectiveness
of risk management and internal control systems of the

Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

Frequency of Meetings and Attendance

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee
of the Company have not held any meeting due to the delay
in publication of the results announcement for the year
ended 31 December 2022 and suspension of trading of the
Company.
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Details of the attendance of the Company’s Audit Committee AN EBEEEEeeENEEEEN T :
meetings are as follows:

Attendance
Name of members RE&B R
Ms. Yuen Wai Man (Chairman) REGLZ L (E) 0/0
Mr. Yick Ting Fai, Jeffrey SREE L& 0/0
Mr. Zhang Min RESA 0/0
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION P EERBEE
The Board is also responsible for performing the corporate EEeNEaRETOEET B EZ2EE
governance duties with its written terms of reference as set EEERY T
out below:
a) to develop and review the Company’s policies and a) FIRT R A RRI BB EE AN

practices on corporate governance;

b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

Q) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to
employees and Directors; and

e) to review the Company's compliance with the
corporate governance code and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

An amount of approximately HK$1,200,000 (2022:
approximately HK$1,337,000) was charged to the
Group's consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December
2023. Remuneration to the auditors of the Company, Asian
Alliance (HK) CPA Limited, amounted to HK$1,200,000
(2022: HK$1,337,000) for the year ended 31 December
2023. A resolution for re-appointment of Asian Alliance (HK)
CPA Limited as auditors of the Company will be proposed at
the forthcoming annual general meeting. The Board concurs
with the views of the Audit Committee in determining the
re-appointment of auditors of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Uncertainties Relating to Going Concern

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing
the consolidated financial statements of the Group and
presenting a balanced, clear and comprehensive assessment
of the Group's performance and prospects. The Directors are
aware of the reported loss attributable to the owners of the
Company of approximately HK$20,560,000 and had net cash
used in operating activities of approximately HK$10,795,000
for the year ended 31 December 2023. As at 31 December
2023, the Group's current liabilities exceeded its current
assets by approximately HK$33,367,000, in which total
borrowings amounted to approximately HK$31,937,000,
while its cash and cash equivalents amounted to
approximately HK$1,616,000 only.

These conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern and therefore it may
be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in
the normal course of business.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

MANAGEMENT’'S AND AUDIT COMMITTEE’S VIEWS ON

THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

The Directors have given careful consideration to future
liquidity and performance of the Group and its available
sources. The Directors have taken and are taking certain
measures to manage its liquidity needs and to improve its
financial position which include but are not limited to:

(i Developing existing business

The Group’s existing business is operating as usual
and the Company is using its best endeavours to
improve the Group's operating results and cash flow
by focusing on the existing distribution business. The
Group is in the course of negotiating with suppliers
in obtaining additional distributorship with an aim
to enhance the product mix and profitability of the
Group as a whole. On the other hand, the Group has
been actively seeking new business opportunities in
supplying its products in a long run.

(ii) Revolving loan from Directors
The Company has entered into a revolving loan
agreement with each of the two executive Directors,
namely Mr. So David Tat Man and Mr. Liu Chun Fai,
respectively, for a total loan facility of HK$20 million
in January 2024 which will be used as working capital
of the Company, as appropriate.

(iii) Potential fund-raising activities
The Company has proactively explored additional
funding such as rights issue, placing of new shares,
issue of new shares and/or convertible bonds,
depending on the prevailing market conditions and
the development of the Group's businesses.

(iv) Repaying outstanding liabilities and collecting
account receivables
The Company is actively negotiating with relevant
parties and will use its best endeavor to repay the
outstanding liabilities. Additionally, the Company has
proactively negotiate with relevant parties in relation
to the recovering of its other receivables.
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MANAGEMENT’'S AND AUDIT COMMITTEE’S VIEWS ON

THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)

(v) Loan capitalisation
The Company is in negotiation with the creditor(s)
of the Group in relation to potential capitalisation of
the debt. It will not only reduce the debt but will also
increase the shareholder base of the Company.

(vi) Exploring business opportunities
The Directors will continue to explore business
opportunities and implement stronger measures
aiming at improving the working capital and cash
flows of the Group, including enhancing the over
profitability of the Group by introduction of higher
gross profit margin products, closely monitoring the
incurrence of operating expenditures and streamlining
unnecessary expenditures of the Group.

(vii) Enforcing cost-saving measures

The Company will use its best endeavours to

minimise its expenditures including but not limited to

administrative expenses as well as operating costs.

COMPANY SECRETARY

For the year ended 31 December 2023, Mr. Chan Kui Ming
was the Company Secretary. Pursuant to Rule 5.15 of the
GEM Listing Rules, Mr. Chan has taken no less than 15 hours
of relevant professional training during the year ended 31
December 2023.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Right to convene special general meeting

The Directors, on the requisition of shareholder(s) of
the Company holding at the date of the deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company shall at all times have the rights, by written
requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require
a special general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (continued)

Right to convene special general meeting (continued)
The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting,
and must be signed by the persons making the requisition
and deposited at the registered office of the Company in
Bermuda and its principal place of business in Hong Kong for
the attention of the Company Secretary.

If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of the
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a meeting,
the persons making the requisition, may themselves convene
a meeting, but any meeting so convened shall not be held
after the expiration of two months from the said date.

Right to put enquiries to the Board

Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board.
All enquiries shall be in writing and sent by post to the head
office of the Company in Hong Kong or the registered office
in Bermuda, or by e-mail to info@chinaeco-farming.com for
the attention of the Company Secretary.

Right to put forward proposals at general meetings

On the requisition in writing of either (i) any number
of shareholder(s) of the Company representing not less
than one-twentieth of the total voting rights of all the
shareholders having at the date of the requisition a right to
vote at the meeting to which the requisition relates; or (ii)
not less than 100 shareholders, the Company shall, at the
expense of the persons making the requisition: (a) to give to
shareholders of the Company entitled to receive notice of the
next annual general meeting notice of any resolution which
may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at that
meeting; (b) to circulate to shareholders entitled to have
notice of any general meeting sent to them any statement
of not more than one thousand words with respect to the
matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the business
to be dealt with at that meeting.

The requisition must be signed by the persons making the
requisition and deposited at the head office and principal
place of business in Hong Kong of the Company for the
attention of the Company Secretary.
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INVESTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining clear,
timely and effective communication with the shareholders
of the Company and investors. The Company has disclosed
all necessary information to its shareholders and investors
in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules. Moreover, the
Board maintains close communications with the shareholders
and investors of the Company through a number of formal
communication channels which include (i) the publication of
the Company’s latest business developments and financial
performance through its annual, interim and quarterly
reports, notices, announcements and circulars; (ii) the general
meetings providing an opportunity for the shareholders
of the Company to raise comments and exchanging views
with the Board; and (iii) the Company’'s website provides an
effective communication platform between the Company
and its investors.

During the year of 2023, there has been no significant
changes in the Company’s constitutional documents.

POLICY ON PAYMENT OF DIVIDENDS

The Company has adopted a policy on payment of dividends
(“Dividend Policy”) on 30 November 2018 pursuant to
E.1.5 in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules’ Corporate
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report with
effective from 1 January 2019.

The Policy sets out principles to determine the amount that
can be distributed to the Shareholders as dividend. The Policy
and the declaration and/or payment of future dividends
under the Policy are subject to the final determination of the
Board that the Policy and the declaration and/or payment of
dividends would be in the best interests of the Shareholders
and the Company. The Board will use their best endeavour to
maintain a balance between the Shareholders’ expectations
and prudent capital management with a sustainable dividend

policy.

The Company has always strived to enhance the
Shareholders’ value. The Directors believe that distributing
dividends to the Shareholders is an important method to
create value for them.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

POLICY ON PAYMENT OF DIVIDENDS (continued)

The Policy includes the following parameters/factors to be
considered by the Board for declaration of dividend from
time to time:

Circumstances under which the Shareholders may or
may not expect dividend

Il. Financial parameters/factors that shall be considered
for declaration of dividend

Ml Internal and external factors that shall be considered
for declaration of dividend

IV. Utilisation of retained earnings
V. Multiple classes of Shares

The Board will review the Policy from time to time and may
exercise its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend
and/or modify the Policy at any time as it deems fit and
necessary. There is no assurance that dividends will be paid in
any particular amount for any given period.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

Goals and objectives

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness on an ongoing basis. Such risk management
and internal control systems are designed for managing risks
rather than eliminating the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Risk management policy has been established to formalize
the risk management of the Group, to build up a standard
and effective risk management system, improve the ability of
risk prevention, so as to ensure the Group is operating in a
safety and steady environment, the operation management
level could be increased and the Group’s operational strategy
and target could be achieved. The current practices will be
reviewed and updated regularly to follow the latest practices
in corporate governance.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Main features of the risk management and internal
control systems

The Board resolved to delegate its responsibilities (with
relevant authorities) of risk management and internal
control to the Audit Committee. Terms of reference of
the Audit Committee included the followings: (i) review
the Group's financial controls,
management systems; (ii) discuss the risk management
system and internal control systems with management to
ensure that management has performed its duty to have an
effective internal control systems; and (iii) to consider major
investigation findings on risk management and internal
control matters as delegated by the Board or on its own
initiative and management’s response to these findings.

internal control and risk

The Audit Committee (on behalf of the Board) oversees
management in the design, implementation and monitoring
of the risk management and internal control systems for the
year ended 31 December 2023. To ensure the efficient and
effective operation of the business and operations, relevant
internal control policies and procedures have been set up for
safeguarding assets against unauthorized use or disposition,
controlling over capital expenditure, maintaining proper
accounting records and ensuring the reliability of financial
information used for business and publication. These
policies and procedures are monitored and reviewed from
time to time and updated where necessary. All employees
are made aware of the policies and procedures in place,
with understanding enhanced by staff communications and
training.

The Board has reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of
the Group's risk management and internal control systems, at
least quarterly, through the Audit Committee.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Process Used to Identify, Evaluate and Manage
Significant Risks

As a routine procedure and part of the risk management
and internal control systems, executive Directors and
management would meet on monthly basis to review the
financial and operating performance of each department. The
management of the key operating subsidiaries is also required
to keep executive Directors updated of material development
of the department’s business and implementation of the
strategies and policies set by the Board on regular basis.

The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks by the Group are summarised as follows:

Risk Identification
o Identifies risks that may potentially affect the key
processes of the Group’s business and operations.

Risk Assessment
o Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment
criteria developed by the management; and

o Considers the impact on the business and the
likelihood of their occurrence.

Risk Response
o Prioritizes the risks by comparing the results of the risk
assessment; and

o Determines the risk management strategies and
internal control processes to prevent, avoid or mitigate
the risks.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

o Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risk
and ensures that appropriate internal control processes
are in place;

o Revises the risk management strategies and internal

control processes in case of any significant change of
situation; and

o Report the results of risk monitoring to the
management and the Board regularly.

A gy
TREARE

Rk EER AR (&)
Al R EEEKRRTANERF

ERERREFUALAREE RABEZERSR
M—Bo ATEEREEESBASE U
B S MPANPBEREERR - TREEMW
BARARIMEEE T ARMAXRBHNERERE
K E R H SRR S IR B HETT T B A
TEERHESHER-

AR FHEREREARRFAAHE
FRER T

a8 B 7 g
. A REH AEBERNEENTE

BREBEEZENER -

A1 B

. M E TR B B E M RT A ERIFF A E &
AR &

. ZEHEBNEERLAARTZEN

AJREME
K2 7 B

. EBLBERTENERARBRIH
BRRF R

. B E b B R SR M A BRER AR RAR - A
Taby - R SOR R E R

EERERRRE
. SENEHERRR YHREAESREE

EH A EEIRAR

. 150 IR A E AR - AHERTE K2
EIRREE R NEREEIERAR -

. THREEENESSERERAR
MAER -

China Eco-Farming Limited FER2 £ £ EER A 7
Annual Report 2023 =% = = F F 3}

53



54

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
REARE

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

Process Used to Identify, Evaluate and Manage
Significant Risks (continued)

The Board has in place an internal audit function within
the Group as required under code provision C.2.5 of the
Corporate Governance Code. The Group has engaged an
independent professional adviser (the “Internal Control
Adviser”) to conduct the annual review of the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems for
the year ended 31 December 2023. The scope of review
included revenue and receipt cycle, expenditure cycle, cash
management and treasury cycle, and financial reporting
cycle for the Company and two of our operating subsidiary.
Internal Control Adviser has reported major findings
and areas for improvement to the Audit Committee. All
recommendations from Internal Control Adviser would be
followed up closely to ensure that they are implemented
within a reasonable period of time. The Group therefore
considered that the Group’s risk management and internal
control processes are adequate to meet the needs of the
Company in its current business environment and that
nothing has come to its attention to cause the Board to
believe the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems are inadequate.

Inside Information Disclosure Policy

An inside information disclosure policy is in place to
ensure potential inside information being captured and
confidentiality of such information being maintained until
consistent and timely disclosure are made in accordance with
the GEM Listing Rules.

On behalf of the Board
Liu Chun Fai
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 12 July 2024
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ABOUT THIS REPORT

The purpose of this Environmental, Social and Governance
(the "ESG") Report (the “ESG Report’) is not only to
communicate the sustainability strategies, management
approaches and performances of China Eco-Farming Limited
and its subsidiaries (collectively known as the “Group” or
“we") with the stakeholders, but also strengthen the Group'’s
understanding towards their ongoing activities in sustainable
development of the society and the environment as a whole.
This ESG Report summarizes the efforts and achievements
made by the Group in corporate social responsibility and
sustainable development.

Sustainability Approach

We embed sustainability into the Group's core principles
by operating with transparency and integrity, fostering our
Group’s culture, building a resilient business, operating
responsibly and creating shared value with our stakeholders.

Across the Group, we work proactively and diligently to
monitor and reduce our environmental footprint, to ensure
effective and ethical governance and to invest in ways that
promote sustainable economic growth. Being a responsible
corporate citizen, we strictly comply with all applicable laws,
take into account the environmental, social and governance
factors and risk management strategies in our operations and
fulfill our social responsibilities with good practical deeds.

Scope of the ESG Report

Unless otherwise stated, this ESG Report covers our Hong
Kong business of trading of grocery food products, trading of
consumables and agricultural products, property investment,
provision of money lending services, one-stop value chain
services and provision of financial services for the period
from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 (the “Reporting
Period”).
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RE -HERERRE

ABOUT THIS REPORT (continued)

Reporting Standard

This ESG Report is prepared in compliance with the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide”
set out in Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “GEM Listing Rules”).
The four reporting principles, namely materiality, quantitative,
balance and consistency, form the backbone of this ESG
Report.

For further information regarding our corporate governance,
please refer to the section of “Corporate Governance
Report” in this Annual Report.

Reporting Principles

o Materiality — The Group has identified and analysed
material ESG issues through materiality assessment
during the Reporting Period, and made the identified
material ESG issues the focus of the Report. The
materiality of the issues has been reviewed and
confirmed by the Board. For further details, please
refer to the two sections headed “Stakeholder
Engagement” and “Materiality Assessment”.

° Quantitative — Information regarding the standards,
methodologies, assumptions and/or calculation
references and sources of key conversion factors used
for KPIs are stated wherever appropriate.

o Consistency — The ESG Report aims to disclose data in
an objective way, which aims to provide stakeholders
with a balance overview of the Group's overall ESG
performance.

o Consistency — Unless otherwise specified, the
Group will follow the same disclosure and statistical
methodology in the last year for meaningful
comparisons. If there are any changes that may affect
comparisons with previous reports, the Group will add
explanatory notes to the corresponding content of the
Report describing the changes of information in the
scope of reporting and calculation methods.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ABOUT THIS REPORT (continued)

Reporting Principles (continued)

To ensure the quality of the content in this ESG Report, we
observed the principles of balance, comparability, accuracy,
timeliness, clarity and reliability. The data has been obtained
from reports generated from our internal systems and we
have relied on internal data monitoring and verification
to ensure its accuracy. The ESG data and information are
reported in good faith and have not been verified by an
independent third party.

Board Statement on ESG Governance

The Board takes the overall responsibility for the Group’s
sustainability strategy and reporting, evaluation and
determines the Group's ESG-related risks and ensures that
appropriate and effective ESG risk management and internal
control systems are in place.

Feedback

We will continue to improve and refine the content and
format of our ESG Report. We welcome your feedback and
suggestion. Please send your feedback to us via post at Room
707, 7/F, Capital Centre, 151 Gloucester Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

We believe understanding the views and opinion of our
stakeholders is of paramount importance to the long-term
success and growth of the Group. Sustainable development
embraces not only our own ESG performance but also our
relationship with stakeholders. As such, we are devoted to
maintaining close and harmonious relationships with our
stakeholders.
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RE -HERERRE

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT (continued)

It is crucial to maintain communication with our stakeholders
and obtain valuable advice. We continue to adopt the
following communication channels with stakeholders to
ensure we learn their opinions and suggestions timely
and accurately, so that our business could be improved
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and developed in a continuous manner. Stakeholders
communications and expectations can be summarized as

follows:
Stakeholders Communication channels Expectations and concerns
B0 E BBERN HEREIER
Employees Internal meetings Employees’ compensation and benefits
B8 N e & EEHEREN
Performance assessment Health and safety working environment
BRGTE BERZZHITERER
Company activities Career development opportunities
NALEE BRBRERE
Training
=gl
Customers Business communication High quality product and service
®P HER BEEmNMRE
Customer service hotline Protect the rights of customers
xRS 2R REE PR
Email
EBE
Suppliers Business communication Fair and open procurement
HRER BER PAREYNEL
Visits Win-win cooperation
Hilia EREE
Email
B
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT (continued)

Stakeholders
B &

Communication channels

BELRX

RE #HERERBE

KnEZ2RE (R

Expectations and concerns

MERBESE

Shareholders

BR

Community

s\ oz

JAWAN

Government and
regulatory bodies

B R EERE

Shareholders’ meetings

& PN

Regular reports and announcements
IR E LA

Official website

B @k

Official website

B Ak
Charitable activities
BRERY

Information submission
REXAH
Email

T

Return on investments

1% & Bl iy

Information disclosure and transparency

AR AR

Protection of interests and fair treatment of shareholders
RIER R R AT

Involvement in communities
HES2H

Business compliance

EEY

Environmental protection awareness

RIRTE

Compliance with laws and regulations
EFERRER
Promote regional economic development and employment

TR R Ml 5
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RE -HERERRE

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

To better understand stakeholders’ opinions and expectations
on the Group's ESG performance, the Group engaged its
stakeholders to conduct a materiality assessment survey.
Both internal and external stakeholders were selected based
on their influence and dependence on the Group. The
selected stakeholders were invited to express their views and
concerns on a list of sustainability issues via an online survey.
As a result, the Group was able to prioritise the issues for
discussion. The result from the materiality assessment survey
has been mapped and presented as below.
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RE #HERERBE

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT (continued) BEEMEML (E)
NUMBER

5% LIST OF MATERIAL TOPICS EEREEE

1 Employee diversity and equal opportunities BEEZTILR TSRS
2 Turnover rate MK E

3 Occupational health and safety BERRETE

4 Training and development Fl R ERE

5 Child labour and forced labour BETIRBRHEST

6 Employment relationship and communication ERBERRER

7 Employee remuneration and benefits EE®M EAEA

8 Sewage disposal aKER IR

9 Greenhouse gas emissions REREBHER

10 Air emissions RERHEN

11 Treatment of hazardous and non-hazardous wastes EREEERESEREY
12 Energy and water conservation BREARK

13 Natural resources (includes water and energy) BRER (BEKEER)
14 Supplier environmental and social assessment HEBRE R &7 h
15 Carbon trading system X HEE

16 Supplier selection process HEREGERRE

17 Anti-fraud and corruption [ BREF R 8 B

18 Business continuity plan BB E

19 Product and service quality EmkRBEE

20 Complaints handling RFEE

21 Intellectual property HMBERE

22 Customer privacy PR

23 Research and development ik

24 Community participation HEeE

The Group built a two-dimensional materiality analysis
matrix and prioritised the 24 issues accordingly. With
respect to this ESG Report, the Group identified quality of
work environment and product and service responsibility
as issues of the highest importance to its stakeholders and
the Group. This review has helped the Group to prioritise its
corresponding sustainability issues and highlight the material
and relevant aspects so as to align them with stakeholders’

expectations.

AEFERY T _#EZMoMEMEE - WAE
FE M 24 B FIR1E LB HE T o BEARESGHR S
mME ANEBEZHATERREEME® KR
BEAREFOHERAEEMERAEEN
BE-RABRAENAEEBHENTFE
BEMEBETLEEFASEZERAEBER
EEERN UEFHENHERE B
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RE -HERERRE

CARING FOR ENVIRONMENT

As a responsible corporation, we are aware of the shared
responsibility to protect and preserve our planet. We
endeavor to comply with laws and regulations regarding
environmental protection and adopts effective measures to
achieve efficient use of resources, energy saving and waste
reduction. Due to our business nature, apart from emissions
and use of resources for electricity and water, our operation
does not have other significant impact on the environment.

Emission Management

Our greenhouse gas (“GHG") emissions primarily stem
from petrol consumption from the use of vehicles (Scope
1), indirect emissions produced by externally-purchased
electricity consumed in offices (Scope 2), and indirect
emissions (Scope 3). We have implemented various initiatives
to reduce the amount of GHG emissions, as further explained
in the subsection headed “Energy Management” of this ESG
Report.

The Group’s objective is to achieve a 15% reduction of
emission per production unit by 2025 from the base year of
2020 (scope 1, 2 & 3). Accordingly, a Group Sustainability
Committee has been established aiming to manage and

EERER

ER—FKABRTNRR HPIAMBRED IR
AREE-RMEHETERRERENZ
BRER UIRBARIERNAERERNEX
A~ BRI RE IR OB D BEZE W) o IR PIA 3
BHEEER  REREERE N KKERIN
RPN EEHRRLELMEATE -

HER

BAEERE (DEERE ) HREEHRR
RERRBERERN VB (BE1) A
EHINEE N (SLE2) E £ w9 A 5 JF A K
B PER (FE3) - R B S RE AR
PRERBME £ — P IBEHNNESGH
EREREE] nHfe

N—ZE-TF[/EREF (BE 283) A&
EHNERRY T _hFERESELEEEN
EVBERIR D 15% Bt - NEB KL T Al #F
BRRZES FHEEEREREEREN

monitor the upgrade of production facilities. FH -

2023 2022  Unit
Air emissions REHER —BC=F —BoCE Ef
Nitrogen Oxides (“NOx") REY ([NOx]) 0.0 00 kg
Sulphur Oxides ("SOx") el ([sox]) 0.0 00 kg
Particulate Matter (“PM") AME (TPM]) 0.0 00 kg
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

%iﬁ * ?‘i%&%ﬁ:/é

wE

CARING FOR ENVIRONMENT (continued) THEIRIE ()
Emission Management (continued) HREE (&)
2023 2022  Unit
GHG emission' BERBHER —BC-=F “ECZF EfL
Total GHG emissions (Scope 1, 2 and 3) BEREENRS 45 7.9 Tonnes of CO,e
(#E1-2K3) —&ftiE e ()
Direct emission (Scope 1) B (EE) 0.0 42 Tonnes of COe
—&ftixEe ()
Indirect emission (Scope 2) B (EE2) 0.5 0.5 Tonnes of CO,e
—&ftiEe ()
Other indirect emission? (Scope 3) HEmb s pe(#E3) 4.0 3.2 Tonnes of CO,e
“SMciEE (1)

Intensity of total GHG emissions BERBHEMAERE 49.0 219 kg of CO,e/m?

8l REE

(Fr/FHK)
Energy Management BEEREE
The energy consumption information is shown as follow: BEFEE R R T
2023 2022  Unit

Energy consumption Bt —E-=H “E--F Ef
Total energy consumption BaE 700.0 16,003.4  kWh

TRE

Intensity of total energy consumption BRFeE (5REER) 7.7 443 kWh/m?

(per floor area) BEYFARTRE

Electricity consumption? rES 700.0 800.0 kWh

TRE&

Petrol R 0.0 15,2034  kWh

TRE&

Note 1:  As the scope of total electricity consumption excluded MizE1 : HREEESEHET Eﬁ DEHTE A T
those usage in shared office rented by few subsidiaries, RN ERARA=HREE HESS
which the electricity consumption data were included ﬁ%,‘m)\aﬁgﬁﬁﬂﬂ‘ M5 B & R
in the management fee paid and unable to be obtained B Eg e r~e S
for the occupied areas, the GHG emission data has not _r,\ﬁﬁ WAEHEEEEL -
included the electricity used by those shared office.

Note 2:  GHG calculation for air travel were made reference to Misk2 : MTERITHEERRAERCRXEZFRER
the International Civil Aviation Organization Carbon BB TR BE PR B SR o
Emissions Calculator.

Note 3:  The scope of total electricity consumption excluded Miz¥3: @BESSHET &ﬁ CHHEATEA
those usage in shared office rented by few subsidiaries, HMERABRAEESe HETs e
which the electricity consumption data were included in MABRE @%ET BePME R EES -
the management fee paid and unable to be obtained for
the occupied areas.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RE -HERERRE

CARING FOR ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Energy Management (continued)

As GHG emissions are positively correlated to electricity
and energy consumption, the Group tries to reduce the
consumption of both aspects in its daily operation through
the following specific measures:

o Adopt natural lighting where possible, while energy-
efficient light bulbs are used to reduce electricity
consumption

o Modify the set temperature of air conditioners in the
offices based on the season

o Consider with higher grading of energy efficiency
when selecting electronic devices

o Encourage our employees to switch off idle equipment
(such as computers and lighting equipment) when the
equipment is not in use or employees are getting off

work

o Office copy machines will be automatically switched
to energy saving mode when left idle for a set period
of time

o Encourage our employees to replace business travels

with telephone conference or video conference when
appropriate to reduce related GHG emissions caused
by the transportation required for business travels

o Encourage employees to schedule visits or offsite
meetings within one trip to reduce the frequency of
travel

China Eco-Farming Limited FEI|R £ EER A7
Annual Report 2023 =T = = F &
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

CARING FOR ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Water Use and Sewage Discharge

Due to our business nature, we do not consume a large
amount of water resources or generate a large amount of
sewage in our operation. Sewage produced by the Group is
mainly generated from the daily water usage from its staffs
during working hours in office, which is further discharged
to the municipal wastewater treatment plant through the
sewage pipe work. We encourage our employees to build
up the habit of saving water through the following specific
measures:

o Post notice in office pantries and washrooms to
encourage water conservation

o Remind employees to turn off water taps when they
are not in use

o Any leakage or dripping found in office should also
be reported promptly to prevent unnecessary water
consumption

As we operated in leased office premises in Hong Kong
of which both the water supply and discharge were solely
controlled by the respective building management. Hence,
the water usage data was unable to be obtained by us as an
individual occupant. As our business is located in Hong Kong,
there is no issue in sourcing water.

RE #HERERBE

BRIRIE (F)

IR A KI5 KBEM
HREMOEBEEER RANEERIL
REBRERKENKER MAREEKNE)FKHE
M- RAEBEERNSKEZREGE TR
AERBEAMNBERAK LAEBSKEELRE
HE—FHRETEISKEREK - R IF@BIA
TEERESBEMBEEIEKRBHORAKNE

/‘\

fil

r

. EMAE

AKX

MFERABS  SBEL

. REERBETA/KE /KR

. KERER D EANHEOERIREX
TIRKIE S - VAR LET 1 Z 8 A 7K

HRBEMERENHERAETLEER A
HKRHKE RS B KEETE B EBES -
At EREAERE  HABZETRAKE
BB -BRBRMANEBUREL WNHRNERF
IKEIRFTER B B
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RE -HERERRE

CARING FOR ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Waste Management

The Group adheres to the waste management principles and
strives to properly manage and dispose wastes produced
by our business activities. Our waste management practice
has been compiled with laws and regulations relating to
environmental protection. Due to the business nature, our
operations do not directly generate hazardous waste. The
non-hazardous wastes generated by the Group's operations
are mainly consist of paper and domestic garbage generated
in office. The wastes were collected and handled by building
management. The total paper waste generated during the
Reporting Period was 0.0 tonnes (2022: 0.0 tonnes) with
an intensity of 0.0 kg (2022: 0.0 kg) per square meter. We
seek opportunities to reduce resource consumption and
waste generation, reuse and recycle materials in an aim of
minimizing overall quantities of waste. As paper is mainly
consumed by the Group in its offices, the Group has adopted
the following practices to reduce the consumption:

o Encourage both-side printing and the use of recycled
paper for printing and copying

° Disseminate information by electronic means (i.e. via
email) as much as possible

o Provide bins and trays in offices to collect waste paper
for further recycling

o Encourage staff to reduce paper consumption and to
share tips and information on how to adopt a more
environmentally-responsible lifestyle

The Group strongly advocates green office, strengthens
daily operation and management, integrates low-carbon
environmental protection concepts into the daily work of
employees by implementing energy-saving office environment
reforms, promoting paperless office management, raises
employees’ awareness of energy conservation, and
cultivates the environmental habits of employees. With the
implementation of the measures above, we believe the
objectives of saving energy, reducing waste and preserving
the environment can be achieved.

The Group's objective is to achieve a 15% reduction of non-
hazardous wastes per production unit by 2025 from the base
year of 2020.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

CARING FOR ENVIRONMENT (continued)

Packaging Material Use

Due to the business nature, the Group does not produce any
finished product and does not have any industrial facilities. As
the suppliers would arrange delivery to our customers directly
for the trading business, we do not consume a significant
amount of packaging materials in our daily operations.

Compliance

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of
any incidents of non-compliance with Air Pollution Control
Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Water
Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) and other relevant laws and regulations
related to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into
water and land, generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste. The Group did not have any significant impact on the
environment and natural resources.

Climate Change

Climate change and global warming are the major
environmental concerns in the world. Despite having no
significant impact on the Group’s businesses, the Group still
strives to put forward environmental conservation and raise
the environmental awareness of the employees.

Due to the business nature, climate change does not have
significant impacts on the business directly. With a higher
temperature in the future, the Group may need to allocate
more spending on cooling.

On the other hand, the Group may experience productivity
loss due to increased extreme weather, like typhoons and
heavy rain. The Group will review the existing measures for
adverse weather conditions and ensure the safety of the
employees.

RE #HERERBE

EERE (&)

BEMEER

HﬂﬁA%i‘%’lﬁgﬁi@i'$EIT$FEH§%W
CMEERATERE AR RERN S LA
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B
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EEEYMESENEBENMERNEG K
SEHRELEBAERIGEMNEATE -
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RE -HERERRE

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES

Our dedicated and skilled workforce is our biggest asset. We
are committed to providing training, equal and development
opportunities for our people to enable them to reach
their potential in a healthy, safe and respectful working
environment.

Equal Opportunities

The Group believes that it is important to provide employees
with equal opportunities based on the principles of fairness
and fairness. We provide fair opportunities for recruitment,
compensation, training, transfer and promotion to our
employees regardless of their gender, ethnic, background,
religion, colour, age, marital status, family status, retirement,
disability or pregnancy.

In addition, the Group adopts a zero-tolerance attitude
towards gender, ethnicity, disability discrimination, and
workplace harassment. We respect human rights and
prohibits discrimination, harassment, child labor and forced
labor in the workplace.

We have established whistleblowing policy, which provides
our staff a private channel to voice out any concerns
about possible discrimination or harassment. We keep the
whistleblowers and their report contents confidential, and
protect the legitimate rights and interests of whistleblowers,
thereby encouraging employees to report violation and create
a good business environment.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES (continued)
Employee Remuneration and Benefits

We offer a comprehensive and competitive remuneration
package to enhance our staff morale and satisfaction. In
addition, the Group conducts staff performance assessments
regularly in accordance to changes in macroeconomic factors
(e.g. national policies and price levels), market trend and the
overall effectiveness of the Group, and makes corresponding
adjustments to staff remuneration. Outstanding employees
will get promotion as reward and recognition. Apart from
competitive remuneration packages, we also grant share
options and special bonuses to eligible personnel, depending
on their performances and our financial conditions, in
order to attract and retain the most talented people. Our
employees also enjoy the statutory holidays, annual leaves,
maternity leaves and compassionate leaves regarding to
the relevant laws and regulations. Our employee handbook
outlines the standard working hours, paid leaves, rest periods
and dismissal policy in protection of the rights of our staff.
We disseminate the handbook to all our staff to keep them
well informed of our principles and policies.

Recruitment and Dismissal

To attract high-calibre candidates, the Group offers fair
remuneration and benefits based on the individuals’ past
performance, personal attributes, job experiences and career
aspiration. We follow the principles of fairness, equality,
competitive and non-discrimination to hire outstanding
talents, and devote to protect human right and privacy
of employees. We recruit employees based on a number
of factors, such as professional experience, educational
background and capabilities, and they are not discriminated
against because of their age, sex, sexual orientation, race,
disability, marital status, pregnancy, religion, political factions
and referrals, so as to maintain employment equality.

All employees of the Group have entered into written
employment contracts and such contracts include dismissal
term where the Company has the right to terminate such
contract with an employee who willfully violates local laws
and regulations and the Group's policy.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
R - HERERRE

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES (continued)
Recruitment and Dismissal (continued)

BERSZEIER (&)
RER#RE (&

The Group had a total number of 34 employees as at 31 HE_E-_=#+_-_A=+—H K&EEH

December 2023. The employee compositions by gender, age B34EZEE MR - FERERERBRE S 2

group and geographical region were as follows: BEMAKINT :
Number of Percentage of
employees as at employees as at
31.12.2023 31.12.2023
R=ZB-=F R=-E==
+t=-A=+-—H +t=-A=+-—H
Employee Structure EBEHAE MEEHAE HNEERD L
Number of Employees EEHBE 34 100%
Gender Male 20 59%
145 S
Female 14 41%
g
Rank Senior Management 6 18%
BAR BREEE
Middle Management 5 15%
PREEE
General Staff 23 67%
EBET
Age Group Under 30 years old 0 0%
FERA R 305 A T
30 - 50 years old 31 91%
30E505%
Over 50 years old 3 9%
50 A £
Geographical Region Hong Kong 12 35%
i@ BB
Mainland China 22 65%
B A3
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RE #HERERBE

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES (continued) EBERSIER (&)
Recruitment and Dismissal (continued) PER#E (&
Number of
employees
resigned in
Year 2023 Turnover Rates
—E-=F
EBR
Employee Structure EE#E EEEE AR
Gender Male 26 163%
14 5] S
Female 20 174%
gk
Geographical Region Hong Kong 8 53%
b & BB
Mainland China 38 304%
A B A
Age Group Under 30 years old 0 N/A
Fi a5 305% AT iE
30 — 50 years old 42 183%
30E505%
Over 50 years old 4 89%
S50BRJA £
Promotion of work-life balance BETEEEZN T

We believe a culture of healthy work-life balance supports
us to build an energetic and more collaborative team. By
providing five-day working week and organizing a wide
variety of recreational activities for our staff, we believe it can
uphold the excellent work performance of employees and
benefit the growth of the Group.

Training and Development

We believe our sustainable growth is largely derived from
the continuous development of our staff. We place a great
emphasis on career development of talents and are dedicated
to providing our employees with abundant opportunities for
career development.

IR AR B A T B AR 7 8 3L 7 AP
B —EFEmE N R E A mBIFIER EE -
BERFEAPARNIFERRRETEBE
BREZY HMARKBEIARELRIFTLE
MTHERR EMANRAREAERER-

BIERE

BARERMNAIFEERERKEE LR
BREMEINFEER - AMAFFEBRA
THREXER BOREERMHTRENRBE

LREE-
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RE -HERERRE

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES (continued)
Training and Development (continued)

We provide and encourage employees at all levels to
participate in various internal and external courses, including
technical and vocational training seminars, forums, on-job
and continuing training courses. We also offer educational
subsidies to our employees to attend academic and
commercial course. These not only enhance their job-

BREREIER (&)

BAERE (&)
BHAEARERBRYZBHRELETEW
WAL K SN BB RAR - BR SR R B R I )BT - AR
RE EBREFEFIRE - HATRAZME
MEBMERENRERUAE M -ZFE
ETERS T RS ETERBA R R ANE
NRREFRHEEE FIREFANRFHE-

related skills and knowledge, but also provide them equal

opportunities for learning, training and promotion.

Year 2023
Occupational Training Data B 2T T BB —E=ZHE
The percentage of employee trained by Gender Male 100%
BERBSNZIETEAL St
Female 100%
pgid
The percentage of employee trained by Rank Senior Management 100%
BERBREINZIEIEIL SRERE
Middle Management 100%
hAREEE
General Staff 100%
EBET
Average training hours of employees by Gender Male 3
BURE DN TP REREEIER S
Female 3
gk
Average training hours of employees by Rank Senior Management 3
BRI N FIIREEIGH SRERE
Middle Management 3
hAREREE
General Staff 3
EBET
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES (continued)
Compliance

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware
of any incidents of non-compliance with the Employment
Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Minimum
Wage Ordinance (Cap. 608 of the laws of Hong Kong) and
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485
of the laws of Hong Kong) and other relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunities,
diversity, anti-discrimination and other benefits and welfare.

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group pays great attention to the physical, mental
and occupational health of its employees. We aim to offer
and maintain a safe and healthy working environment for
employees to protect them from work-related accidents or
injuries.

We are committed to achieving this goal by implementing
the measures including but not limited to:

Provide personal medical insurance and business travel
insurance for all employees

o Provide sufficient first-aid kits and personal protective
equipment at workplaces

o Prohibit smoking in all enclosed areas within our
offices without exception

o Perform regular checking and maintenance of
machines, equipment and fire extinguishers

During the Reporting Period, there is no workplace accidents.
In case the accident occurred, it will be investigated and
reported to the relevant authorities and measures have been
put in place to prevent the recurrence of the same. During
the past three years, the Group did not record any work-
related fatality of employees.

RE #HERERBE
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a8
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RE -HERERRE

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY (continued)
Compliance

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of
any incidents of non-compliance with The Occupational
Safety and Health Ordinance (Chapter 509 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) and other relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group relating to providing
a safe working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards. We also did not receive any reports
on work-related injuries or causalities during the Reporting
Period.

LABOUR STANDARD

In strict accordance with applicable local laws and
regulations, we adopt a zero-tolerance approach to unethical
labour practice including but not limited to child labor and
forced labor. Once any breach of regulations is discovered,
the labour relationship will be terminated immediately. All
recruitment procedure and promotion are managed by the
Human Resource Department to ensure no child labour
or forced labour is employed. If use of child labour or
forced labour is discovered, the Group will terminate the
employment contract and investigate if further action is
needed.

Compliance

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of
any incidents of non-compliance with the Employment of
Children Regulations made under the Employment Ordinance
(Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong) or other relevant laws
and regulations on preventing child or forced labour.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

We value mutually beneficial and longstanding relationships
with our suppliers. Our major suppliers are suppliers of
grocery food products, consumables and agricultural
products, external business consultants and general office
supply. The selection of suppliers is based on criteria
such as quality, cost, business scale and reputation, with
preference given to potential suppliers that demonstrate their
commitment to the environment. Full compliance with all
applicable laws and regulations is a must for our suppliers.
When a supplier is found to be inconsistent with our policy
or contractual requirements, we will terminate future
cooperation until the situation got improved.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT (continued)
During the Reporting Period, 5 of suppliers sourced in Hong
Kong.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware that
any key suppliers had any significant actual and potential
negative impact on business ethics, environmental protection,
human rights and labour practices, nor any of them had any
non-compliance incident in respect of human rights issues.

CARING FOR CUSTOMER

The Group attaches importance to quality, safety and
environment, and endeavors to fulfill social responsibilities
and facilitate sustainable development of the food industry.

Product Responsibility

As one of our principal business is trading of grocery food
products, we have always endeavored to provide safety
food products to our customers. We have registered as
food importer and food distributor under the Food Safety
Ordinance (Chapter 612 of the Laws of Hong Kong). We
have registered as a food importers/food distributors under
the Food Safety Ordinance. In order to demonstrate that
we are committed to selecting cooking oil suppliers with
adequate and appropriate records, we have registered
as registered supplier to the Hong Kong Cooking Oil
Registration Scheme under Hong Kong Quality Assurance
Agency (“HKQAA") on voluntary basis. Regarding to
product recall, we attach great importance to the food alerts
issued by Centre for Food Safety as well as related market
information. Once we noticed our product is involved with
quality and safety issues and necessary to be revoked, we
will fully collaborate with related regulatory authorities and
recall the relevant products as required. Recall arrangement
will be announced and the recalled products will be handled
appropriately. During the Reporting Period, no product recall
has been incurred.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RE -HERERRE

CARING FOR CUSTOMER (continued)

Privacy Protection and Intellectual Property

In accordance with the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance
(Cap. 486 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Group handles the
personal data of our customers carefully by collecting only
necessary personal data and ensures that the information
obtained is protected from unauthorised or accidental access.
Our employees are constantly reminded the importance of
respecting the privacy of personal and business data.

No significant issue related to intellectual property rights was
noted for the Reporting Period. However, the Group is aware
that relevant steps should be taken to follow all relevant
regulations in order to protect intellectual properties which
belong to itself or any other third parties.

Compliance

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with the Consumer Goods
Safety Ordinance (Chapter 456 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), Food Safety Ordinance (Chapter 612 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), Food and Drugs (Composition and Labelling)
Regulations (Chapter 132W of the Laws of Hong Kong),
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap. 486 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) and other relevant laws and regulations that
constitutes a significant impact on the Group in relation to
health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters.

ANTI-CORRUPTION

We regard honesty, integrity and fair play as core values that
must be upheld by all directors and staff at all times. The
Group strictly complies with applicable laws and regulations
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud or anti-money laundering.
Any misconduct related to bribery, extortion, fraud or anti-
money laundering are strictly prohibited within the Group. To
ensure full compliance with the Group’s anti-fraud and anti-
bribery policies, the Group had conducted anti-corruption
briefing and training sessions for its employees.

We have established reporting channels where employees
can report illegal and non-compliance conducts that they
have noticed by in-person, phone, email or letter. The
reporting content will be confidential and never be exposed
to third party.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ANTI-CORRUPTION (continued)

Compliance

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Cap. 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and other
relevant laws and regulations and there was no legal cases
concerned with corrupt practices were brought against the
Group or Directors or employees.

CARING FOR SOCIETY

We are committed to participating in community events and
the improvement of community wellbeing and social services.
We support and encourage staff to actively participate in a
wide range of charitable events outside working hours, raise
awareness and concern for the community, last but not least,
inspire more people to take part in serving the community.

During the Reporting Period, the Group made contributions
to various charitable organization, such as The Hong Kong
Federation of Youth Groups.

RE #HERERBE

k&S (&)

a8

RBEME XEBLTMEFEMEKRE
REBEDIE201F B LRI IERAG]) K H Al
BEEPIMOER N EMN B ESH S AL E
SEFHETRESREFITRIVERRMSE-

BAEHE

BB AL ELRES Ui S @@ Rt
ERE - BMIBFLEHEIRIHRKHE
B2BESHEEZEY UWIRAMBESH Y
HEMNET THBRELZHELEL[ERSE-

RBEME AEERAEETFHEFTZ [
REABIBR

China Eco-Farming Limited FER2 £ £ EER A 7
Annual Report 2023 =% = = F F 3}

77



78

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B AR &

/l Er(EEB)EHEBRERATE
A

sian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited

TO THE MEMBERS OF CHINA ECO-FARMING LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued into
Bermuda with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial
statements of China Eco-Farming Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
set out on pages 89 to 283, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of
the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion
section of our report, we have not been able to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an
audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In
all other respects, in our opinion, the consolidated financial
statements have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (continued)

1.

Limitation of scope on the settlement in relation
to disposal of investment properties

As disclosed in Note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements, on 6 September 2022, BEHFIREHR
R 2 & (the "Vendor”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, had disposed of a property located in
Fujian Province, at a consideration of RMB3,425,000
(the "Consideration”) to an independent third party
(the “Purchaser”).

During the course of our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022, we have been told by
the management of the Company that part of the
Consideration, amounted to RMB3,125,000, had
been received by Mr. Tin Ka Pak, Timmy (“Mr. Tin"),
the chief executive officer and executive director
of the Company, on behalf of the Vendor, in order
to settle the taxation issue of an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company in the PRC as
he was willing to travel to PRC under compulsory
quarantine requirement during the material time
of COVID-19 pandemic. On 31 October 2022, the
board of directors of the Company (the “Board”)
has approved Mr. Tin to keep RMB1,125,000 out of
the amount received by Mr. Tin in his personal bank
account. For the remaining RMB2,000,000 out of the
amount received by Mr. Tin, Mr. Tin had deposited
RMB100,000 into the Vendor's bank account, and
had remitted RMB1,900,000 to the bank accounts of
other subsidiaries in Hong Kong through a remittance
company.

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 31
December 2023, Mr. Tin did not use the proceeds
to settle the taxation issue as mentioned above
and has not even repaid the amount received of
RMB1,125,000 to the Group. Therefore, as at 31
December 2022 and 31 December 2023, the amount
due from Mr. Tin was RMB1,125,000, further details
are set out in Note 25(c)(ii) to the consolidated
financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B AR &

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (continued)

1.

Limitation of scope on the settlement in relation
to disposal of investment properties (continued)
However, we have not been provided with the
supporting documents from the Board that would
satisfy ourselves as to the reasonableness of
authorising Mr. Tin to receive part of Consideration on
behalf of the Vendor. There were no other satisfactory
audit procedures that we could adopt to obtain
sufficient appropriate evidence in this regard.

Any adjustments found to be necessary to the above
matters might have significant consequential effects
on the consolidated financial performance and
consolidated cash flows of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022, the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2022 and
31 December 2023 and the related disclosures thereof
in the consolidated financial statements.

Limitation of scope on deconsolidation of

Seal Eco Advance Limited (“Seal Eco”) and

its subsidiary (collectively referred as the
“Deconsolidated Subsidiaries”) and disposals of
King Health International Holdings Limited (“King
Health”) and King Noble Holdings Limited (“King
Noble")

As disclosed in Note 42 to the consolidated financial
statements, a winding-up order was made by the
High Court against Seal Eco at the hearing of the
Petition on 16 November 2022 (the “Deconsolidation
Date”). The Official Receiver of Hong Kong and
the joint and several provisional liquidators were
appointed pursuant to the Companies (Winding Up
and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Chapter
32 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The books and
records of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries were kept
and maintained by the bankruptcy administrator,
which were not made available to the Group's
management subsequent to the Deconsolidation Date.
Consequently, the Group had deconsolidated the
Deconsolidated Subsidiaries (the “Deconsolidation”)
as the directors of the Company (the “Directors”)
considered that as the Group no longer had the
power to govern the financial and operating policies
of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries, the Group’s control
over the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries had been lost on
the Deconsolidation Date.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (continued)

2.

Limitation of scope on deconsolidation of

Seal Eco Advance Limited (“Seal Eco”) and

its subsidiary (collectively referred as the
“Deconsolidated Subsidiaries”) and disposals of
King Health International Holdings Limited (“King
Health”) and King Noble Holdings Limited (“King
Noble”) (continued)

Under the circumstances as explained above, we
were not able to carry out procedures which we

considered necessary on the books and records of the
Deconsolidated Subsidiaries, to satisfy ourselves as to:

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

the existence, rights and obligations,
completeness, accuracy, valuation and
classification of its total assets of approximately
HK$5,987,000, total liabilities of approximately
HK$14,629,000 and the cumulative translation
reserve of approximately HK$2,677,000 as at
the Deconsolidation Date;

its loss and total comprehensive expenses for
the period of approximately HK$22,915,000
and HK$25,086,000, respectively for the period
from 1 January 2022 to the Deconsolidation
Date;

the segment information of distribution
business and other related disclosure notes in
relation to the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries,
as included in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022; and

the accuracy of the gain on deconsolidation of
subsidiaries of approximately HK$3,982,000, as
included in the profit or loss of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

There were no other satisfactory audit procedures
that we could adopt to obtain sufficient appropriate
evidence in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B2 RS

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (continued)

2.

Limitation of scope on deconsolidation of
Seal Eco Advance Limited (“Seal Eco”) and
its subsidiary (collectively referred as the

“Deconsolidated Subsidiaries”) and disposals of
King Health International Holdings Limited (“King
Health”) and King Noble Holdings Limited (“King

Noble"”) (continued)

Financial information in respect of the Deconsolidated

Subsidiaries is set out below:

Income and expenses of the Deconsolidated

FrRERER (&)

2. HUHREARBHEELRBRBEFR
RA([BHREE)REKE AT (&
BRIBUEGREARMBEAR]) R H
EREZERERERAR (RER
King Noble Holdings Limited ([King
Noble |) (&8 E R (%)

ISR S ARKERA0H A
BT

HUB#R & AR B A R B A KRR :

Subsidiaries:

From 1 January
2022 to
Deconsolidation
Date
BE-_E -4
—A—BEEH
A AR A H
HK$'000
FAT
Revenue W s 10,389
Cost of sales 85 & XA (16,327)
Gross loss E£i8 (5,938)
Other income H b Y A 304
Administrative expenses TR X (17,281)
Loss before tax FR 1% Al BT 18 (22,915)
Income tax expense FrigfiMx -
Loss for the period HNEE (22,915)
Other comprehensive expense Hih 2 EAX (2,171)
Total comprehensive expense for the period HAN2EMAX 8 (25,086)

Total comprehensive expense for the period JEAREAN 2 7 2 4858

attributable to:

Owners of the Company = WNGIE 2= DN (18,778)
Non-controlling interests FEIERR AR R = (6,308)
(25,086)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (continued)

2.

Limitation of scope on deconsolidation of

Seal Eco Advance Limited (“Seal Eco”) and

its subsidiary (collectively referred as the
“Deconsolidated Subsidiaries”) and disposals of
King Health International Holdings Limited (“King
Health”) and King Noble Holdings Limited (“King
Noble"”) (continued)

Assets and liabilities of the Deconsolidated
Subsidiaries:

BB ®E

THRER (#&)
2. HBUEGEAREBPEELRBREAR

RE(BREED RENBATE (4
BRIBHGEEARMEAR]) R
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King Noble Holdings Limited ([King
Noble |) #y €8 E PR &) (%)

HUBSR A ARMBARINEERAE:

As at

Deconsolidation

Date

R EUH

e AR A

HK$'000

FHT

Plant and equipment 5 K & 323
Trade and other receivables JREE LT AR R B L A R KRR TR 3,272
Amount due from the Group Bl BEHEEKIE 2,173
Cash and cash equivalents RekBEeFE 219
Trade and other payables JRE A-F B SRR % LAt JE A< TR TE (12,798)
Loan from a shareholder REE R (750)
Amount due to the Group B BE5EFIE (181)
Amount due to non-controlling interests JE 1 FE 4% AR AR R 4 25 R IE (900)
Net liabilities of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries BUH%RA AR B AR & EF58 (8,642)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company & A &% A AEHEZS (6,445)
Non-controlling interests FEFE R AR R 2= (2,197)
(8,642)

Any adjustments found to be necessary to the
above amounts would affect the amounts recorded
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income in respect of the
Deconsolidated Subsidiaries for the period from
1 January 2022 to the Deconsolidation Date and
consolidated statement of financial position in
respect of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries at the
Deconsolidation Date, with a corresponding effect on
the gain on deconsolidation of subsidiaries and gain
on written-off of current accounts, net for the year
ended 31 December 2022, and the related disclosures
thereof in the consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B AR &

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (continued)

2.

Limitation of scope on deconsolidation of

Seal Eco Advance Limited (“Seal Eco”) and

its subsidiary (collectively referred as the
“Deconsolidated Subsidiaries”) and disposals of
King Health International Holdings Limited (“King
Health”) and King Noble Holdings Limited (“King
Noble”) (continued)

Also, as at 31 December 2022, included in other
payables, was an amount of approximately
HK$2,173,000 which represented amount due to
the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries as a result of the
Deconsolidation. We are unable to obtain supporting
evidence to satisfy ourselves as to the balance is free
from material misstatement. There were no other
alternative audit procedures that we could carry out
to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence
to verify the accuracy, rights and obligations and
completeness of this balance as at 31 December
2022. Accordingly, we were unable to satisfy ourselves
as to whether the amount due to the Deconsolidated
Subsidiaries was fairly stated.

Any adjustments found to be necessary to the above
matter might have significant consequential effects
on the consolidated financial performance and
consolidated cash flows of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022, the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2022 and
the related disclosures thereof in the consolidated
financial statements. Our opinion on the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2023 was modified because of the possible effect
of this matter on the comparability of the related
current year figures and corresponding figures in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

As disclosed in Notes 43(a)(iii) and 43(a)(iv) to the
consolidated financial statements, during the year
ended 31 December 2023, the Group has disposed
of the entire share capital of King Health and King
Noble.

China Eco-Farming Limited FEI|R £ EER A7
Annual Report 2023 =T = = F &

THRER (#)
2. BUEGRAEAREBHEELRBEAR

RA([BHREE)REKE AT (&
BRIBUEGREARMBEAR]) R H
EREZERERERAR (RER
King Noble Holdings Limited ([King
Noble |) (&8 E R (%)

N RZFEZZF+=A=+—81"
MREBUEGSA AR HMEARER
EREMEBCHGA AEKBARRELY
2,173,000/ 7T o F M9 K e U5 2 45 &8
BUAS B PIE MR 8 E KSR MR
meRMELZAEEMBEREZRER
LS EHEENERREZRN
T —F+ A=+ BRESHNE
R EETREEE Bt &
ME s T ERSBUEGAE ARHBA

AIRERE AR 2.

HEAEEBYENTRARY T
g8 BESEEE-_T-_-"F+=A
=+ —BIEFENGFEEMBRIERE
EHRERE BEER-_ZT=-_Z

TZ AT —AXNEREMBRR R
AV BHREANBEREZEEREKRERKR
BEZE - RMYBE-_T_=F+=
A=+ —BLEFENBRETERED
EZERETBE] RARZEIE &
eNENBENFEHSTHREER
REMEEMEZRTPHESR T L
i3

o\

AR & B 7% 2k BT 5E43(a)(ii) f243(a)
(VI E RBEE-_ZTZ-_=%+—A8
=+—HIEFE BEELERAK
King Noble#] & ZF A& 48 o



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (continued)

2.

Limitation of scope on deconsolidation of

Seal Eco Advance Limited (“Seal Eco”) and

its subsidiary (collectively referred as the
“Deconsolidated Subsidiaries”) and disposals of
King Health International Holdings Limited (“King
Health”) and King Noble Holdings Limited (“King
Noble”) (continued)

However, as explained above, we were not provided
with sufficient appropriate audit evidence in respect of
other payables in aggregate of HK$2,173,000 due to
the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries from King Health and
King Noble, on the respective dates of disposals of
King Health and King Noble. Consequently, we could
not ascertain the net liabilities of King Health and King
Noble on the respective dates of disposals, and hence,
we could not ascertain whether the gains on disposals
of HK$4,239,000 and HK$2,063,000, respectively, are
fairly stated, for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Any adjustments found to be necessary to the above
amounts would affect the amounts recorded in the
consolidated statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income in respect of King Health and
King Noble for the period from 1 January 2023 to
the respective dates of disposals and statements of
financial position in respect of the King Health and
King Noble at the respective dates of disposals, with
a corresponding effect on the gain on disposal of
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2023,
and the related disclosures thereof in the consolidated
financial statements.

Multiple fundamental uncertainties relating to
going concern

As described in Note 3.1 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group reported loss attributable
to the owners of the Company of approximately
HK$20,560,000 and had net cash used in operating
activities of approximately HK$10,795,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2023. As at 31 December
2023, the Group's current liabilities exceeded its
current assets by approximately HK$33,367,000, in
which its total borrowings amounted to approximately
HK$31,937,000, while its cash and cash equivalents
amounted to approximately HK$1,616,000 only.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B AR &

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (continued)

3.

Multiple fundamental uncertainties relating to
going concern (continued)

These conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
and therefore it may be unable to realise its assets
and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of
business.

The Directors have been undertaking a number of
measures to improve the Group’s liquidity and financial
position as described in Note 3.1 to the consolidated
financial statements. The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared by the Directors on
a going concern basis, the validity of which depends
on the Group’s ability to obtain sufficient future
funding. Due to the uncertainty of the Group’s ability
to maintain adequate future cash flows, we were
unable to ascertain whether the assumptions made by
the Directors in preparing the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis are proper and
appropriate.

Should the going concern assumption be
inappropriate, adjustments would be necessary to
reclassify all non-current assets as current assets,
write-down the value of assets to their recoverable
amounts and to provide for further liabilities which
may arise. The consolidated financial statements
have not incorporated any of these adjustments.
However, the uncertainties surrounding the Group's
future cash flows raises significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. We
consider that appropriate disclosures have been made
in the consolidated financial statements concerning
this situation, but we are unable to obtain adequate
evidence concerning the Group's ability to meet any
financial obligations as and when they fall due and we
consider that these material uncertainties relating to
going concern basis.

We consider the cumulative effect of the above matters on
the consolidated financial statements is so extreme that we

have disclaimed our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED
WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
of the Company determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements in accordance with Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to
issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with the terms of our
engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. However, because of the
matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion
section of our report, we were not able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit
opinion on these consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B AR &

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
We are independent of the Group in accordance with
the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the “"Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Asian Alliance (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)
Cheng Ting Chiu

Practising Certificate Number: P06598

8/F Catic Plaza

8 Causeway Road
Causeway Bay
Hong Kong

12 July 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GEREREMEEKER

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_ZT_=F+_A=t+—HIEFE
2023 2022
—=E-= T
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Pt FHEx FHET
Revenue I &5 5
Goods and services 7 M AR 1% 46,350 25,811
Interest under effective interest REBRNEEFENFE
method 2,602 323
Total revenue Fell g 48,952 26,134
Cost of sales & AR (40,999) (30,328)
Gross profit (loss) ER (18) 7,953 (4,194)
Other income, gains or losses, net HAup A - W s E 1B -
ik 7 2,430 2,668
Impairment losses reversed (recognised) 8 Hi{z & & 1E18 18 T # (D
under expected credit loss model, net (¥R ABEERE F5E 9 3,209 (7,479)
Loss from changes in fair value of KREMERN R FEE
investment properties, net 518 F 58 18 = (1,697)
Gain (loss) from changes in fair value R A FEFFAEZRE 2 £/
of financial assets at fair value BEAFEZEHKE
through profit or loss (E518) 1,685 (1,930)
Gain on deconsolidation of subsidiaries EUBAR& A BRI E 2 &M
W %5 42 - 3,982
Gain (loss) on disposal of subsidiaries,  H & M B A A&y S
net (E518)  #8 43 7,358 (5,305)
Gain on written-off of current account, Hi$5 4 F R B Uk - F5E
net - 9,952
Loss on settlement of deposits paid HEENIEeERE 23 (24,878) -
Impairment loss recognised on deposits FTHERE (Fix & MR EE B
paid 23 (2,403) (7,219)
Gain on settlement of other receivables 4% & £ b & I 20 IE & U 25 8,912 -
Selling and distribution expenses HE RDIERX (311) (370)
Administrative expenses 1THRFA X (17,770) (47,516)
Share of results of associates DR E N E A 21 (3.453) (6,326)
Finance costs ELE=ID N 8 (2,962) (4,272)
Loss before tax B 5 A ES 1B (20,230) (69,706)
Income tax credit PSR e 10 26 948
Loss for the year KEEEE 11 (20,204) (68,758)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

mEBERRHEMEZEKE R
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_E-—F+-_A=+—RHIEE

2023 2022
—E_= =
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B3t FHET FAT
Other comprehensive (expense) income: i 2 (I3 ) Yezs
Item that will not be reclassified T EE L B2
to profit or loss: EH -
Fair value loss on investments in BEAVEGFAREMEE
equity instruments at fair value Wiz Em TEREN
through other comprehensive NEEEE
income (2,802) (3,935)
Items that may be reclassified R B 7 HE R
subsequently to profit or loss: HH -
Exchange differences arising on MEBINEBEEZER
translation of foreign operations ZHE 1,551 7,513
Release of cumulative exchange reserve 188, BUE4RA AR HE
upon deregistration/ deconsolidation/ /8 4M 3 T B £ bk 251
disposal of foreign operations b X (163) 2,677
1,388 10,190
Other comprehensive (expense) income ANEEE#i2HE (%)
for the year, net of income tax Wzt HIBRFTS T (1,414) 6,255
Total comprehensive expense for the ~ AFE 2 HEF X B
year (21,618) (62,503)
Loss for the year attributable to: JEIEARFEEEE:
Owners of the Company IN/NETEZZ =N (20,560) (62,359)
Non-controlling interests FEVERR IR SR AE 2 356 (6,399)
(20,204) (68,758)
Total comprehensive expense EIEAFELEMA B
for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company iN/NETEZ =N (21,829) (55,716)
Non-controlling interests FEFE IR AR R A 2= 211 (6,787)
(21,618) (62,503)
Loss per share: BREE:
Basic and diluted (HK cents) AR S (GENl) 15 (15.82) (51.52)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e MR &R

At 31 December 2023
RZZEZ=F+=-A=+—H

2023 2022
—=E-= —_EF-—
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5E FHEx FHEIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Plant and equipment B 16 212 112
Investment properties KREWE 18 - 9,780
Goodwill EES 19 - -
Intangible asset BmEEE 20 758 758
Interests in associates AN I - 3] 21 20,358 23,811
Equity instruments at fair value BN EF AR
through other comprehensive ZHNRGZERTA
income 22 - 2,865
Deposits paid [RENE& 23 62,357 98,396
83,685 135,722
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories BE 24 2,612 -
Trade and other receivables JEUBR R M EE b fEU TR 25 34,767 19,860
Loan and interest receivables FE W E R F B 26 - 1,328
Financial assets at fair value through BEAFEFABRRZ
profit or loss TREE 27 473 3,375
Restricted bank balance X PR IIRTT 4 8 28 629 649
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFE 29 1,616 1,161
40,097 26,373
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade and other payables ER RN R A ERRIE 30 35,330 40,096
Contract liabilities aHEE 31 1,103 4,243
Amounts due to non-controlling JE A FE4E AR AR 3R 4 2 3IE
interests 32 2,745 2,745
Borrowings B 33 31,937 37,781
Margin loans payables ERESE K 34 2,065 4,768
Financial guarantee contract HBEREH 35 - 141
Income tax payable JE 1~ PR 5 A% 284 387
73,464 90,161
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e M B R &

At 31 December 2023
RZZFZ=F+=HA=+—H

2023 2022
—=E-= =
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FETT
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAEEFE (33,367) (63,788)
NET ASSETS EEFE 50,318 71,934
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXRFE
Share capital % 7 37 1,300 1,300
Reserves R 12,503 34,318
Equity attributable to owners of the ZAN/NSIE S DN
Company 13,803 35,618
Non-controlling interests FEI7E A% AR B A 2 36,515 36,316
TOTAL EQUITY ERBE 50,318 71,934

The consolidated financial statements on pages 89 to 283  #89E283BMiRA M KHEMEETE R T

were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of “HFELtA T HAH#ERKERNE - WAHT
Directors on 12 July 2024 and are signed on its behalf by: JIEERAEE:
So David Tat Man Liu Chun Fai
BRIE BEE
Director Director
EBFE EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEREREHR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_T-_=F+-A=1+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RRAREAE AR
Investment Non-
Share Share  Contributed  revaluation Share options ~ Translation Special Accumulated controlling
capital premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve  Other reserve |osses Subtotal interests Total
RAEMR ki FiER
BE  RGEE  HARR G fE  AHEE  BRIEE  HbEE  ZHBR Pt RRER it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TER TEr Thr Thr TEL TET TET TET TET TER
(Note (a)  (Note (b))
(@) (o)
At 1 January 2022 W-Z--F-f-8 1,060 - 650,298 (31,964) 1,800 (1,602) 6,026 (6,321) (531,023) 88,274 40,906 129,180
Loss for the year TEEER - - - - - - - - (62,359) (62,359) (6,399) (68,758)
Other comprehensive (expense) income ~ AFEEH2E (F%)
for the year: Ugs :
ltem that will not be redlassified HTEEHFHZ B
to profit or loss: Fg:
Fair value loss on investments in equity ~ RAFEFAEMLZE
instruments at fair value through ez EaTARE
other comprehensive income NATEEE - - - (3,935) - - - - - (3,935) - (3,935)
Items that may be reclassified BRI EZ Bl
subsequently to profit or loss: Ef:
Exchange differences arising on BEBNEBELL
translation of foreign operations ERER - - - - - 829 - - - 8,296 (783) 7513
Release of cumulative exchange RBGAAE/ L8
reserve upon deconsolidation/disposal SN EFE B
of foreign operations 2 ESEE - - B - - 228 - - - 2,28 395 2,671
- - - - - 10,578 - - - 10,578 (388) 10,190
Other comprehensive (expense) income A FEM2E (H%)
for the year, net of income tax W35 MRFAEH - - - (3,935) - 10,578 - - - 6,643 (388) 6,255
Total comprehensive (expense) income  AFE 2 (H%) Mz
for the year EE - - - (3,935) - 10,578 - - (62,359) (55,716) (6,787) (62,503)
Issuing of new shares upon rights issue B IR B /TR R (A
(Note 37) (Ma37) 240 3,607 - - - - = - - 3,847 - 3,847
Transaction costs attributable to issuing ~ RMERARTHR K
of new shares upon rights issue EEHRBRA - (787) - - - - - - - (787) - (787)
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries BEGAAEHBAR - - - - - - - 4,555 (4,555) - 2,197 2,197
At 31 December 2022
1,300 2,820 650,298 (35,899) 1,800 8,976 6,026 (1,766) (597,937) 35618 36,316 71,934
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-_Z-=F+_A=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KRRERAEE
Investment Share Non-
Share Share Contributed revaluation options  Translation Special Other Accumulated controlling
capital  premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Subtotal interests Total
REEf FER
Bx  RGEE HARS i BRERE REEGE BIRE HbRE  RHEE Mt REER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
Fan Fax Fax Fign Fign Fign Fitn Fin Fan Fan Fan Fax
(Note (a)  (Note (b))
(K@)  (Kz(b)
At 1 January 2023 W-Z-=F-f-R 1,300 2,820 650,298 (35,899) 1,800 8,976 6,026 (1,766)  (597,937) 35,618 36,316 71934
Loss for the year TEREEE - - - - o = = = (20,560)  (20,560) 356 (20,204)
Other comprehensive (expense) income A% 27 (513
for the year: Ugs:
Item that will not be reclassified HIBEHFHZER
to profit or loss: Fg:
Fair value loss on investments in equity ~ RATFEFAKHEZE
instruments at fair value through Bz BRTARE
other comprehensive income MATESE - - - (2,802) - - - - - (2,802) - (2,802)
Items that may be- redlassified EREHFHZ Bl
subsequently to profit or loss: Ef:
Exchange differences arising on BEBNEBELL
translation of foreign operations ERER - - - - - 1,696 - - - 1,696 (145) 1,551
Release of cumulative exchange HHEINEBH
reserve upon deregstration of BREHER
foreign operations - - - - - (163) - - - (163) - (163)
- - - - - 1,533 - - - 1,533 (145) 1,388
Other comprehensive (expense) income ~ AEEEM2E (H%)
for the year, net of income tax Mgk MBRFEH - - - (2,802) - 1,533 - - - (1,269) (145) (1.414)
Total comprehensive (expense) income A E 2 (%) Mz
for the year ag = = = (2,802) - 1,533 - - (20,560) (21,829) M (21,618)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 43) HEWBAR (HFHa3) - - - - - - - - - 2 2
Partial disposal of subsidiary without
change of control (Note 44) - - - - - - - 14 - 14 (14) -
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=%+2A
=t-A 1,300 2,820 650,298 (38,701) 1,800 10,509 6,026 (1,752)  (618,497) 13,803 36,515 50,318
Notes: PaE
(a) The special reserve represents the difference between the (a) BRI EREAD B RTHE QR GS mE &K
nominal amount of share and share premium of the former NREERBE T - FEBEAMETH
subsidiary of the Company and the nominal amount of the ARBBRMHEEZERZHE -
Company's shares issued pursuant to a group reorganisation
in 2002.
(b) The other reserve has been set up and dealt with in (b) HMFEFEDRERL —FEKB AR TERERE

accordance with the accounting policies for the changes in
ownership interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss

of control.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

RERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1—HIFE

2023 2022
—E=-= =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES mEEK
Loss before tax PR A& B (20,230) (69,706)
Adjustments for: S TFIIEE EH A
Finance costs ELEEID N 2,962 4,272
Depreciation of plant and equipment WE REETE 72 375
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEENE - 382
Loss from change in fair value of KEMERNTEEZEEE
investment properties, net FER = 1,697
(Gain) loss from changes in fair value of BRATEFABRZ &/
financial assets at fair value through BEATEZS (KH)
profit or loss K518 (1,685) 1,930
Impairment loss, net of reversal RAEEE - IR E
— deposits paid —BfiZe 2,403 7,219
— financial assets and other items under - cREEREHEES
expected credit loss model BEATHEMIER (3,209) 7,479
Gain on deconsolidation of subsidiaries BUBARE ABRM B A FHY
W g - (3,982)
(Gain) loss on disposal of subsidiaries, net HEWB QR (W)
SRR (7.358) 5,305
Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries LM B A A A Es (163) -
Gain on settlement of other receivables 458 H Ath JE WGRIB ) Y 5 (8,912) -
Loss on disposal of investment property HEREYENEE 177 -
Gain on disposal of plant and equipment B R F k& e W (13) -
Loss on written-off of other receivables B8 L A B W R IE 2 B 1B - 242
Loss on settlement of deposits paid HEENReEE 24,878 -
Share of results of associates DB E N A A 3,453 6,326
Interest income FMEHA (1,796) (1,211)
Operating cash flows before movements T R&EEEESR AT 2
in working capital RERESR (9,421) (39,672)
(Increase) decrease in inventories F& (1gm) R (2,612) 2,716
(Increase) decrease in trade and JrE UK BR FR R E A U
other receivables I8 (3Hn) Rk 2> (4,018) 1,417
Decrease in loan and interest receivables JE W B R B R B 6,296 140
Increase in trade and other payables JE A5t B SRR % EL A FE AN SR IE
0 2,138 9,164
(Decrease) increase in contract liabilities aH8E C/d) (3,140) 1,739
Cash used in operations X¥BFARS (10,757) (24,496)
Income tax paid [RENEIREY (38) (26)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES K& ZEFTAREFHE (10,795) (24,522)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

2023 2022
—E=-= Tz
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BEEH
Proceeds on disposal of financial assets HERAFEFABEN
at fair value through profit or loss EREEMNFTIENIA 4,587 3,475
Proceeds on disposal of asset classified HENPRRFELEZ
as held for sale EEMFTS A = 7,997
Proceeds on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AR ATEKIE 14 227
Proceeds on disposal of investment properties &% & ¥ M FT1S A - 5,020
Proceeds on disposal of plant and equipment & E & & E R TS E 13 -
Interest received 2 U F B 4 19
Purchase of plant and equipment EERE MR (172) -
Deposit paid for acquisition of further equity ~ FLUE— B ARHNE %
interest in a subsidiary IREMTIRE - (742)
Net cash outflow from deconsolidation of BUEERE ABRMB AR 2
subsidiaries WE ML FE - (219)
Disposal of deposits paid for acquisition of HERBEMEMTIES
properties 3,837 -
NET CASH FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZBHELHRSTFHE 8,283 15,777
FINANCING ACTIVITIES METH
New borrowing raised MERER 4,318 1,100
Repayments of borrowings EEBK (1,525) (2,917)
Decrease in margin loans payables ERHMRBESEFR LD (3,083) (1,774)
Repayments of lease liabilities ERBEEAE - (527)
Proceeds from issue of new shares upon R AR & 21T R AR < FT 13
rights issue IB - 3,847
Transaction costs attribute to issuing of IR 1& 31T 3 IR (0 FE A5 AY
new shares upon rights issue R SR - (787)
Interest paid BFE (545) (3,335)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEZEFTARESFE (835) (4,393)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH RERASESERDFHE
EQUIVALENTS (3,347) (13,138)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FHZRERREEE
AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 1,161 2,850
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes /NEEZRSFH & 3,802 11,449
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZRERREEE
AT THE END OF THE YEAR,
represented by bank balances and cash NIRITHESR RIRE TR 1,616 1,161
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1—HIFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Eco-Farming Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated as an exempted company with limited
liability in the Cayman Islands under the Company
Law of the Cayman Islands on 30 November 2000.

The shares of the Company were listed on GEM of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) since 5 February 2002.

During the year ended 31 December 2007, the
Company re-domiciled from the Cayman Islands into
Bermuda by way of de-registration in the Cayman
Islands and continuation as an exempted company
under the laws of Bermuda. The change of domicile
was approved by the shareholders of the Company on
15 October 2007 and the Company was continued
into Bermuda with limited liability with effect from 29
October 2007.

The addresses of the registered office is Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda
and the principal place of business of the Company is
Room 707, 7/F, Capital Centre, 151 Gloucester Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong. The directors of the Company
(the “Directors”) do not consider any company to be
the ultimate holding company and parent company of
the Company.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the "Group”) are principally engaged in the
business of one-stop value chain services, property
investment, distribution business, provision of money
lending services and provision of financial services.

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars ("HK$"), which is also the
functional currency of the Company. Other than those
subsidiaries established in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC") whose functional currencies are
Renminbi (“RMB"”), the functional currency of the
Company and its subsidiaries is HK$.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs")

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the
following new and amendments to HKFRSs issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA") for the first time, which are
mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning
on 1 January 2023 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including the October  Insurance Contracts
2020 and February 2022
Amendments to HKFRS 17)

Amendments to Hong Kong Definition of Accounting Estimates
Accounting Standards
("HKAS") 8

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

International Tax Reform-Pillar
Two Model Rules

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Except as described below, the application of the
new and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year
has had no material impact on the Group's financial
positions and performance for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS
8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

The Group has applied the amendments for the first
time in the current year. The amendments define
accounting estimates as “monetary amounts in
financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty”. An accounting policy may require items
in financial statements to be measured in a way that
involves measurement uncertainty. In such a case, an
entity develops an accounting estimate to achieve
the objective set out by the accounting policy. The
amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates, and changes in
accounting policies and the correction of errors.

The application of the amendments in the current
year has had no impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

2.

REMB|KRME
For the year ended 31 December 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS
1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of
Accounting Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the
first time in the current year. HKAS 1 Presentation
of Financial Statements is amended to replace all
instances of the term “significant accounting policies”
with “material accounting policy information”.
Accounting policy information is material if, when
considered together with other information included
in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users
of general purpose financial statements make on the
basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of
the related transactions, other events or conditions,
even if the amounts are immaterial. However, not
all accounting policy information relating to material
transactions, other events or conditions is itself
material. If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial
accounting policy information, such information must
not obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality
Judgements (the “Practice Statement”) is also
amended to illustrate how an entity applies the
“four-step materiality process” to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information about
an accounting policy is material to its financial
statements. Guidance and examples are added to the
Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no
material impact on the Group's financial positions and
performance but has affected the disclosure of the
Group's accounting policies set out in the consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are
not yet effective:

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
HKFRS 10 and Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture'
HKAS 28

Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback?
HKFRS 16

Amendments to Classification of Liabilities as Current or
HKAS 1 Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)?

Amendments to Non-current Liabilities with Covenants?
HKAS 1

Amendments to Supplier Finance Arrangements?
HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to Lack of Exchangeability?
HKAS 21

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or
after a date to be determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2024.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2025.

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned
in the consolidated financial statements, the
Directors anticipate that the application of all other
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

me

B R R M &

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation

5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”) and
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and
additional guidance on the assessment of right to
defer settlement for at least twelve months from
reporting date for classification of liabilities as current
or non-current, which:

o clarify that if a liability has terms that could,
at the option of the counterparty, result in its
settlement by the transfer of the entity’s own
equity instruments, these terms do not affect
its classification as current or non-current only
if the entity recognises the option separately
as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation.

o specify that the classification of liabilities as
current or non-current should be based on
rights that are in existence at the end of the
reporting period. Specifically, the amendments
clarify that the classification should not
be affected by management intentions or
expectations to settle the liability within 12
months.

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve
months from reporting date which are conditional
on the compliance with covenants, the requirements
introduced by the 2020 Amendments have been
modified by the 2022 Amendments. The 2022
Amendments specify that only covenants with which
an entity is required to comply with on or before the
end of the reporting period affect the entity’s right
to defer settlement of a liability for at least twelve
months after the reporting date. Covenants which
are required to comply with only after the reporting
period do not affect whether that right exists at the
end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RERME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_T-_=F+-A=1+—HILFE

AN REETERTBRE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation

5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”) and
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)
(continued)

In addition, the 2022 Amendments specify the
disclosure requirements about information that
enables users of financial statements to understand
the risk that the liabilities could become repayable
within twelve months after the reporting period,
if an entity classifies liabilities arising from loan
arrangements as non-current when the entity’s right
to defer settlement of those liabilities is subject to the
entity complying with covenants within twelve months
after the reporting period.

The 2022 Amendments also defer the effective
date of applying the 2020 Amendments to annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024. The 2022 Amendments, together with the
2020 Amendments, are effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024, with
early application permitted. If an entity applies the
2020 Amendments for an earlier period after the issue
of the 2022 Amendments, the entity should also apply
the 2022 Amendments for that period.

Based on the Group's outstanding liabilities as at 31
December 2023, the application of the 2020 and
2022 Amendments will not result in reclassification of
the Group's liabilities.

2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
meEMBHREME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose of
preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material
if such information is reasonably expected to
influence decisions made by primary users. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “GEM Listing Rules”) and by the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Group reported a loss attributable to owners of
the Company of approximately HK$20,560,000
and had approximately HK$10,795,000 net
cash used in operating activities and, as of 31
December 2023, the Group's current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by approximately
HK$33,367,000, in which its total borrowings
amounted to approximately HK$31,937,000,
while its cash and cash equivalents amounted
to approximately HK$1,616,000. These
conditions indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt
about the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (continued)
Although the Group has been continuously
incurring losses in these years, the Directors
are of the opinion that the Group will have
sufficient working capital to meet its operating
cash flows as and when they fall due for
the next twelve months from the end of the
reporting period given that:

(@  the Company is developing its existing
business by, including but not limited
to, expanding the product mix and its
number of suppliers and customers of
the Group;

(b) the Company has entered into a
revolving loan agreement with each of
the two executive Directors, namely Mr.
So David Tat Man and Mr. Liu Chun Fai,
respectively, for a total loan facility of
HK$20 million in January 2024 which
will be used as working capital of the
Company, as appropriate;

(e) the Company has proactively explored
additional funding such as rights
issue, placing of new shares, issue of
new shares and/or convertible bonds,
depending on the prevailing market
conditions and the development of the
Group's businesses;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ZT_=F+_A=+—HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (continued)

3.

3.1

(d)

the Company is actively negotiating
with relevant parties and will use its
best endeavor to repay the outstanding
liabilities. Additionally, the Company
has proactively negotiate with relevant
parties in relation to the recovering of its
other receivables;

The Company is in negotiation with the
creditor(s) of the Group in relation to
potential capitalisation of the debt. It
will not only reduce the debt but will
also increase the shareholder base of the
Company;

the Directors will continue to explore
business opportunities and implement
stronger measures aiming at improving
the working capital and cash flows of
the Group, including enhancing the over
profitability of the Group by introduction
of higher gross profit margin products,
closely monitoring the incurrence of
operating expenditures and streamlining
unnecessary expenditures of the Group;
and

The Company will use its best endeavours
to minimise its expenditures including but
not limited to administrative expenses as
well as operating costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (continued)

The Directors are of the opinion that the
Group will be able to have sufficient working
capital to finance its operations and to meet its
financial obligations as and when they fall due
for a period of not less than the next twelve
months from 31 December 2023. Accordingly,
the Directors are of the opinion that it is
appropriate to prepare these consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023 on a going concern basis.
The consolidated financial statements do not
provide for further liabilities which might arise,
and do not include any adjustments relating
to the carrying amount and reclassification of
assets and liabilities that might be necessary
should the Group be unable to continue as a
going concern.

The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on the historical cost basis
except for investment properties and certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair
values at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair
value of the consideration given in exchange
for goods and services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
meEMBHREME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique.
In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics
into account when pricing the asset or
liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes
in these consolidated financial statements is
determined on such a basis, except for share-
based payment transactions that are within
the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are accounted for
in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases, and
measurements that have some similarities to
fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 /nventories or value
in use in HKAS 36 /Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial
asset takes into account a market participant’s
ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment
properties which are transacted at fair value
and a valuation technique that unobservable
inputs is to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique
is calibrated so that at initial recognition the
results of the valuation technique equals the
transaction price.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.1

3.2

Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes,
fair value measurements are categorised into
Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs
to the fair value measurement in its entirety,
which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities that the
entity can access at the measurement
date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than
guoted prices included within Level
1, that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs
for the asset or liability.

Material accounting policy information
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements
incorporate the financial statements of the
Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved where the Company:

o has the power over the investee;
° is exposure, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the

investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect
its returns.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
05 R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls
an investee if facts and circumstance indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the
three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of
the voting rights of an investee, it has power
over the investee when the voting rights are
sufficient to give it the practical ability to
direct the relevant activities of the investee
unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances in assessing whether or
not the Group’s voting rights in an investee are
sufficient to give it power, including:

o the size of the Group’s holding of voting
rights relative to the size and dispersion
of holdings of the other vote holders;

o potential voting rights held by the
Group, other vote holders or other
parties;

o rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

o any additional facts and circumstances
that indicate that the Group has, or does
not have, the current ability to direct
the relevant activities at the time that
decisions need to be made, including
voting patterns at previous shareholders’
meetings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the
Group obtains control of the subsidiary and
ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of
a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in
the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to
the financial statements of subsidiaries to
bring their accounting policies in line with the
Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries
are presented separately from the Group’s
equity therein, which represent present
ownership interests entitling their holders to
a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries
that do not result in the Group losing control
over the subsidiaries are accounted for as
equity transactions. The carrying amounts of
the Group’'s relevant components of equity
and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests
in the subsidiaries, including re-attribution
of relevant reserves between the Group and
the non-controlling interests according to the
Group’s and the non-controlling interests’
proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests are adjusted,
and the fair value of the consideration paid
or received is recognised directly in equity and
attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary
and non-controlling interests (if any) are
derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss and is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of
the consideration received and the fair value
of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to the
owners of the Company. All amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that subsidiary are accounted for
as if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary
(i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred
to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair
value of any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) or, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business
is carried at cost as established at the date of
acquisition of the business (see the accounting
policy above) less accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing,
goodwill is allocated to each of the Group's
cash-generating units (“CGUs") (or group of
CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, which represent
the lowest level at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes
and not larger than an operating segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently when there is
indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting
period, the CGU (or group of CGUs) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment before the end of that reporting
period. If the recoverable amount is less than
its carrying amount, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill and then to the other assets on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit (or group of CGUs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of
the CGU within the group of CGUs, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in
the determination of the amount of profit or
loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of
an operation within the CGU (or a CGU within
a group of CGUs), the amount of goodwill
disposed of is measured on the basis of the
relative values of the operation (or the CGU)
disposed of and the portion of the CGU (or the
group of CGUs) retained.

e BB RHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE ZFEF-AS+BHIEFE
3. %n,\ﬁiﬁiﬁﬁéﬁﬁzgziﬁ-&iké
STECRESR (&)

3.2 EXAESHEEEH(H)

A&
HWBESELEZBAETRD
WHEEKEARTEZRA (R L
NHEER) R EFREEE
(E) ABRe

RABEBAEM S BHEESEZR
BHAEAHZHRRERXELZ
rEBERSEABM([BHE
EAEBEM]) (ABRTELEEM
ARl - Tz A O B 15 R 2 K
RANFEEBOMEREHE
W RIER B BT RREE D EB -

DEFHENRESELEN (K
ﬁiéiﬁuﬁﬁﬂiﬁLﬁm
BAR EEFRERZEN
A RE IR B R E ST M 1T
AR - BLR RS HARE S
EREEmMS ERESEFE
RIR S EABEA (&ﬁi?i
L4 B)) PR 5% 5 B R BT 1T R
ﬁ%ﬁ'ﬁ?%@iﬁﬁmﬁ,
EE BREEBEE LR D EA
LURRAEMEEMNEERE A&
RIEZEN (RS ELENA
A B EEEMNERERERLA S
REHEMEE-

HERBREELAEURRS
ELBEMARNANEMNREE
EBUE BIEHESEMRAAL
ERRSHENET -EAXAKE L
ERTELBU (KREELE
fLAERINNREELEL) AR
XK hENRESRERLE
MER (KBRS EEEM) KR
BOMoReELSN (BT
ELEMAR) WRHEETE-

China Eco-Farming Limited FER2 £ £ EER A 7
Annual Report 2023 =% = = F F 3}

113



114

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
05 R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Goodwill (continued)

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the
acquisition of an associate is described below.

Interests in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group
has significant influence. Significant influence
is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but is
not control or joint control of those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of
associates are incorporated in these
consolidated financial statements using the
equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using
uniform accounting policies as those of the
Group for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances. Under the equity method, an
investment in an associate is initially recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group's share of the profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of
the associate. Changes in net assets of the
associate other than profit or loss and other
comprehensive income are not accounted for
unless such changes resulted in changes in
ownership interest held by the Group. When
the Group's share of losses of an associate
exceeds the Group's interest in that associate
(which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group’s
net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. Additional losses are recognised only to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Interests in associates (continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on
which the investee becomes an associate. On
acquisition of the investment in an associate,
any excess of the cost of the investment
over the Group's share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is
included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group's share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately
in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an
objective evidence that the interest in an
associate may be impaired. When any objective
evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of
the investment (including goodwill) is tested
for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36
as a single asset by comparing its recoverable
amount (higher of value in use and fair value
less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount.
Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated
to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part
of the carrying amount of the investment. Any
reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent
that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Interests in associates (continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant
influence over an associate, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in the
investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group
retains an interest in the former associate and
the retained interest is a financial asset within
the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the
retained interest at fair value at that date and
the fair value is regarded as its fair value on
initial recognition. The difference between the
carrying amount of the associate and the fair
value of any retained interest and any proceeds
from disposing the relevant interest in the
associate is included in the determination of
the gain or loss on disposal of the associate. In
addition, the Group accounts for all amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that associate on the
same basis as would be required if that
associate had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income by that associate would be reclassified
to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the
gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as
a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/
partial disposal of the relevant associate.

Changes in the Group’s interests in associates
The Group continues to use the equity method
when an investment in an associate becomes
an investment in a joint venture. There is
no remeasurement to fair value upon such
changes in ownership interests.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Interests in associates (continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in associates
(continued)

When the Group reduces its ownership interest
in an associate but the Group continues to
use the equity method, the Group reclassifies
to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or
loss that had previously been recognised in
other comprehensive income relating to that
reduction in ownership interest if that gain or
loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on
the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate
of the Group, profits and losses resulting
from the transactions with the associate are
recognised in the Group's consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the Group.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) are
classified as held for sale if their carrying
amount will be recovered principally through
a sale transaction rather than through
continuing use. This condition is regarded as
met only when the asset (or disposal group)
is available for immediate sale in its present
condition subject only to terms that are usual
and customary for sales of such asset (or
disposal group) and its sale is highly probable.
Management must be committed to the
sale, which should be expected to qualify for
recognition as a completed sale within one year
from the date of classification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Non-current assets held for sale (continued)
When the Group is committed to a sale plan
involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all of
the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are
classified as held for sale when the criteria
described above are met, regardless of whether
the Group will retain a non-controlling interest
in the relevant subsidiary after the sale.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan
involving disposal of an investment in an
associate, the investment or the portion of the
investment that will be disposed of is classified
as held for sale when the criteria described
above are met, and the Group discontinues
the use of the equity method in relation to the
portion that is classified as held for sale from
the time when the investment (or a portion of
the investment) is classified as held for sale.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups)
classified as held for sale are measured at the
lower of their previous carrying amount and
fair value less costs to sell.

Revenue from contracts with customers
The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying
the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or
service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct or a series of distinct goods or services
that are substantially the same.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue
is recognised over time by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation if one of the
following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by
the Group's performance as the Group
performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or
enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

o the Group's performance does not
create an asset with an alternative
use to the Group and the Group has
an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in
time when the customer obtains control of the
distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services
that the Group has transferred to a customer
that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for
impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group's
unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment
of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's
obligation to transfer goods or services to a
customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
3.2 Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

(continued)

A contract asset and a contract liability relating
to the same contract are accounted for and

presented on a net basis.

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in

exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or
after the date of initial application of HKFRS
16 or arising from business combinations,
the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under
HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract
will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently

changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a

contract

For a contract that contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-
lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative
stand-alone price of the lease component and
the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-

lease components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to
separate non-lease components from lease
component, and instead account for the lease
component and any associated non-lease

components as a single lease component.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to leases of offices that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. It also applies the recognition
exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expense on
a straight-line basis or another systematic basis
over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement
of the lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, less any lease
incentives received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the
Group; and
o an estimate of costs to be incurred by

the Group in dismantling and removing
the underlying assets, restoring the
site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of
the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less
any accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is
reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the
underlying leased assets at the end of the lease
term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-
of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as
a separate line item on the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair
value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of-
use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the
Group recognises and measures the lease
liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the
present value of lease payments, the Group
uses the incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend

on an index or a rate, initially measured
using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the
Group under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option
if the Group is reasonably certain to
exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating
a lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising an option to terminate
the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities
are adjusted by interest accretion and lease
payments.

The Group as lessor

Classification and measurement of leases
Leases for which the Group is a lessor are
classified as finance or operating leases.
Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance
lease. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
05 R R M

For the year ended 31 December 2023

me

B=
3.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as lessor (continued)

Classification and measurement of leases
(continued)

Rental income from operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and
arranging an operating lease are added to
the carrying amount of the leased asset, and
such costs are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term except
for investment properties measured under fair
value model.

Rental income which are derived from the
Group's ordinary course of business are
presented as revenue.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are
accounted for under HKFRS 9 and initially
measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments from lessees.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of
each individual group entity, transactions in
currencies other than the functional currency of
that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary
items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing on the date when the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement
of monetary items, and on the retranslation of
monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of
the Group's foreign operations are translated
into the presentation currency of the Group
(i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Income and
expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during that period,
in which case the exchange rates at the date
of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity under the heading of translation reserves
(attributable to non-controlling interests as

appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that
is, a disposal of the Group's entire interest in
a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of control over a subsidiary that includes
a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an
interest in a joint arrangement or an associate
that includes a foreign operation of which the
retained interest becomes a financial asset), all
of the exchange differences accumulated in
equity in respect of that operation attributable
to the owners of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal
of a subsidiary that does not result in the
Group losing control over the subsidiary, the
proportionate share of accumulated exchange
differences are re-attributed to non-controlling
interests and are not recognised in profit or
loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial
disposals of associates that do not result in
the Group losing significant influence), the
proportionate share of the accumulated
exchange differences is reclassified to profit or
loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on
identifiable assets acquired arising on an
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as
assets and liabilities of that foreign operation
and retranslated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Exchange differences arising are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until
there is reasonable assurance that the Group
will comply with the conditions attaching to
them and that the grants will be received.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Government grants (continued)
Government grants are recognised in profit or
loss on a systematic basis over the periods in
which the Group recognises as expenses the
related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate. Specifically, government
grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise
acquire non-current assets are recognised as
deferred income in the consolidated statement
of financial position and transferred to profit or
loss on a systematic and rational basis over the
useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that
are receivable as compensation for expenses
or losses already incurred or for the purpose
of giving immediate financial support to
the Group with no future related costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable. Such grants are
presented under “other income”.

The benefit of a government loan at a
below-market rate of interest is treated as a
government grant, measured as the difference
between proceeds received and the fair value
of the loan based on prevailing market interest
rates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_ T =F+_A=1+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the defined contribution
retirement benefit plans in Hong Kong and
the PRC are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them
to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised
at the undiscounted amount of the benefits
expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee
benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion
of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual
leave and sick leave) after deducting any
amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-
term employee benefits are measured at the
present value of the estimated future cash
outflows expected to be made by the Group
in respect of services provided by employees
up to the reporting date. Any changes in the
liabilities" carrying amounts resulting from
service cost, interest and remeasurements are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent
that another HKFRS requires or permits their
inclusion in the cost of an asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Share-based payment

Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions

Share options granted to employees
Equity-settled share-based payments to
employees and others providing similar services
are measured at the fair value of the equity
instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-
based payments determined at the date of
grant without taking into consideration all
non-market vesting conditions is expensed on
a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group's estimate of equity
instruments that will eventually vest, with a
corresponding increase in equity (share options
reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the
Group revises its estimates of the number of
equity instruments expected to vest based
on assessment of all relevant non-market
vesting conditions. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates, if any, is recognised
in profit or loss such that the cumulative
expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to share options
reserve. The share options that vest immediately
at the date of grant, the fair value of the share
options granted is expensed immediately to
profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve
will be transferred to share premium. When
the share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry
date, the amount previously recognised in
share options reserve will be transferred to
accumulated losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

3.

3.2

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Share-based payment (continued)
Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions (continued)

Share options granted to non-employees
Equity-settled share-based payment
transac